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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Good morning.

          3  Welcome to today's City Council Committee Hearing of

          4  the Transportation Committee. My name is John Liu, I

          5  have the privilege of chairing this Committee.

          6  We've convened this Hearing for the purpose of

          7  hearing the Fiscal 2008 Preliminary Budgets of the

          8  Taxi and Limousine Commission, the New York City

          9  Department of Transportation, and the Metropolitan

         10  Transportation Authority and New York City Transit.

         11                 We'll be looking at various aspects.

         12  We'll be hearing general testimony from the

         13  Commissioners involved and also asking some specific

         14  question on a number of items.  So we're very happy

         15  to have joining us first this time, and I think this

         16  will make our hearing process a lot more efficient.

         17  We're glad to be joined by Matt Daus, the

         18  Commissioner and Chairperson of the Taxi and

         19  Limousine Commission, joined by his team members,

         20  who he'll introduce shortly.

         21                 Good morning, Matt, and welcome.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Good morning, Mr.

         23  Chairman. Thank you for getting us here bright and

         24  early.  We certainly appreciate being first.

         25                 I have to my right, Andrew Salkin,
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          2  our First Deputy Commissioner, and to my left Deputy

          3  Commissioner Lou Tazzi.  He's Deputy Commissioner

          4  for Finance and Administration with responsibility

          5  for the Budget.

          6                 I want to thank you for the

          7  opportunity, once again, to testify today to present

          8  our thoughts on the Fiscal Year 2008 Preliminary

          9  Budget for our agency, the Taxi and Limousine

         10  Commission.  My name is Matthew Daus, as you know.

         11  I am the Chair and the Commissioner of the agency.

         12                 I will begin with a brief overview of

         13  the TLC's role as part of the transportation network

         14  and also as a market regulator.  Then I will

         15  highlight some important points in the FY 2008

         16  Budget and briefly discuss some important

         17  initiatives we have planned going forward.  At that

         18  point I'd be happy to take and answer any questions

         19  that you might have.

         20                 As you know, the TLC is a licensing

         21  and regulatory agency that plays an integral part in

         22  the lives of all New Yorkers. Our Agency oversees

         23  the for-hire vehicle industries in New York City

         24  including yellow medallion taxi cabs, community car

         25  services, black cars, luxury limousines, commuter
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          2  vans and paratransit services.

          3                 We are responsible for licensing and

          4  regulating over 13,000 taxicabs and more than 37,000

          5  for-hire vehicles.  The TLC also licenses and

          6  regulates nearly 100,000 drivers and 700 for- hire

          7  vehicle bases or businesses, as well as medallion

          8  brokers, medallion agents, and taximeter businesses

          9  or taximeter shops. Combined, the TLC regulates

         10  industries that are responsible for moving over one

         11  million passengers per day.  A primary role of the

         12  TLC is to ensure that each passenger's riding

         13  experience is safe, comfortable and convenient.

         14                 The TLC's operations will be

         15  conducted within a Preliminary Budget for Fiscal

         16  Year 2008 of $29,904,110.  Of that amount, the break

         17  down is $21,735,288 for Personal Service, or PS

         18  allocations and $8,168,822 for OTPS, or Other than

         19  Personal Service.

         20                 I want to highlight several important

         21  adjustments to the current FY 2007 Budget, which are

         22  also reflected in the proposed Budget for Fiscal

         23   '08.  In 2007 the TLC began work on the Rules

         24  Revision Project, an initiative that will

         25  consolidate, bring uniformity, and streamline the
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          2  rules our licensees are governed by. We will

          3  continue the process in FY 2008 and anticipate

          4  completing the first phase of the project, which

          5  involves a fundamental re organization of our rules

          6  within the first year of the scope of work.  This

          7  will include outreach, discussions and collaboration

          8  with stakeholders throughout all of our regulated

          9  industries, as well as the City Council.

         10                 Another important initiative the TLC

         11  began work on in FY 2007 was increasing the staffing

         12  of our agency call center. Hiring new staff in

         13  Fiscal '08 will ensure that the call center will be

         14  better poised to handle the increasing volume of

         15  calls, and ensure that the TLC provides enhanced

         16  customer service to both passengers and licensees.

         17                 Additionally, we are working closely

         18  with 311 on several projects aimed at providing

         19  better information and service to passengers.

         20                 Through our work with the City

         21  Council, we have made important strides in a third

         22  key initiative, addressing the need for city- wide

         23  accessible service.  Over the past year, TLC staff

         24  has worked closely with representatives of the City

         25  Council, the Mayor's Office of People with
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          2  Disabilities, multiple industry Advisory Boards,

          3  Easter Seals, City and Nation- wide advocates,

          4  users, drives, and owners to explore possible

          5  solutions to providing accessible service to people

          6  in the City.

          7                 They have traveled throughout the

          8  country meeting with vendors, modifiers, touring

          9  facilities and participating in the National

         10  Mobility Equipment Dealers Association as the only

         11  governmental transportation agency involved.

         12  Through this work, we have gained a better

         13  understanding of the needs and challenges this

         14  project faces.  Staff continues to monitor, evaluate

         15  and explore appropriate vehicles to provide the

         16  service, as well as defining service models and

         17  standards that are appropriate.  In the upcoming

         18  months, we anticipate a proposal that will service

         19  the entire City, set specific service levels and

         20  standards for accessible service, and we look

         21  forward to continuing our work with the Council as

         22  project matures as it has been from the onset, a

         23  collaborative endeavor.

         24                 In addition to several large projects

         25  that I've just discussed, the TLC has several other
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          2  initiatives planned for FY 2008 that I would like to

          3  share with you.

          4                 Pursuant to State and local

          5  authorizing legislation, the City is planning for a

          6  closed bid auction of 150 medallions for use on

          7  wheelchair accessible vehicles.  In conjunction with

          8  identifying the appropriate vehicles for service,

          9  staff is currently working on updating TLC rules,

         10  setting a time- frame for the auction and organizing

         11  outreach.  This auction will bring a number of

         12  dedicated accessible medallions to 231.

         13                 The TLC also remains committed to

         14  implementing technology that can add real value for

         15  passengers, licensees, and the City, through its

         16  regulated industries.

         17                 The Taxicab Customer Service

         18  Improvements Project, that's the technology project,

         19  authorized in 2004 is moving forward.  Four vendors

         20  have been approved and are in the final stages of

         21  beta testing with over 180 taxicabs on the road

         22  today, testing the systems for functionality and

         23  durability before we roll it out to the entire

         24  fleet.  The industry- wide roll out is slated to

         25  take place sometime during this calendar year.
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          2                 As I stated earlier, we are committed

          3  to ensuring the safety of passengers in vehicles in

          4  which they ride.  To this end, we have taken

          5  aggressive steps in updating our inspection

          6  facility.  This past January, TLC began conducting

          7  DMV certified state inspections at our own Woodside

          8  inspection facility.  This certification allows the

          9  TLC to improve its commitment to vehicle safety,

         10  while also replacing the duplicative need for cabs

         11  to also get a separate DMV inspection outside of the

         12  three inspections that we do for them at our

         13  facility every year.

         14                 To conclude, my testimony today is

         15  indicative of the TLC's commitment to continually

         16  challenging itself, and no matter how good we do, we

         17  want to continue to do better to best serve the

         18  needs of the riding public and its dynamic

         19  industries.

         20                 That concludes my testimony.  I'd be

         21  happy to answer any questions that you have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you,

         23  Commissioner.  Let me note that we've been joined by

         24  Council Members Miguel Martinez from Manhattan,

         25  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx and Daniel Garodnick
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          2  from Manhattan.

          3                 Thank you very much for your

          4  testimony.  What is a closed bid for the 150

          5  medallions that are coming up for auction? Is that

          6  the same way they auction the medallions have been

          7  auctioned off for the last three years?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes, the same.

          9  We're not anticipating any changes to the

         10  procedures.  It's a closed, sealed bid.  There are

         11  due dates to pick them up, submit them and then

         12  they're opened publicly, and we track who gets the

         13  highest bid, and the highest bidder wins.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  In other words, all

         15  the bids come in, it's closed and then the bids are

         16  revealed?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right, then they

         18  are opened publicly and displayed, and it goes to

         19  the highest bidder.  And the bids themselves are

         20  submitted closed, so nobody sees, and we seize the

         21  bids obviously before they are opened publicly.  We

         22  have all sorts of integrity and security procedures

         23  in place to make sure that there's always somebody

         24  watching them to make sure that nobody has the

         25  ability to tamper with them or get in the room.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Or to get a peak at

          3  them to change their own bid.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That's correct.

          5  That's right, and we work very closely with the

          6  Department of Investigation on that.  They've

          7  reviewed our procedures, and they assist us.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right.  What is

          9  the time frame for the next auction?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  We haven't set a

         11  specific date for the auction yet.  The next step is

         12  for us, hopefully within the next month or two, to

         13  get our procedures passed.  Every time we go through

         14  the auction, we usually change our regulations

         15  before the Board of Commissioners, and we plan to do

         16  that as well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  So certainly will

         19  be conducted within the Fiscal Year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Now how much

         21  does the FY '08 Budget in revenues from the sale of

         22  the 150 medallions?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, we have I

         24  believe -- The Mayor's office of Managing Budget has

         25  set a number at $30 million.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  So in other

          3  words, the Administration expects $200,000 per

          4  medallion?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I believe that's

          6  a revenue estimate that was arrived at in

          7  conjunction with the Mayor's Budget office.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  In terms of the

         10  actual revenue, things can change, and when it comes

         11  to this sale, it's even more difficult to predict

         12  what the actual revenue would be because there

         13  haven't really been any open market transfers yet.

         14                 The accessible medallions are a new

         15  breed of medallion.  It's something that was created

         16  by us and by the Council, never has been done

         17  before.  When we auctioned them off, the prices were

         18  higher than we ever anticipated at the auction. But

         19  also, I think part of that could have been a result

         20  of one very affluent bidder who won most of the

         21  medallions.

         22                 So we're hoping that the market

         23  itself will determine what the bidding price is.  So

         24  I guess what my point is, is that it's difficult to

         25  estimate because it's an unknown.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yeah.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  There has not

          4  been one medallion transfer on the open market since

          5  the auction of an accessible medallion, which is not

          6  unusual.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The last set of

          8  accessible medallions, about 50 of them right?  They

          9  went for over half a million each.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Now, the Commission

         12  may say, well, that was due to one affluent bidder.

         13  I mean, no matter how affluent you might be, you're

         14  not going to be paying $300,000 more per medallion,

         15  $15 million more for 50 medallions than other

         16  reasonable people would pay.  So the question

         17  actually is not why it is that the Administration

         18  has only expected only $30 million of revenues from

         19  the sale of these 150 medallions.  The real question

         20  is, what does the City do with all that money that's

         21  come in far in excess of the revenue estimates for

         22  these past three years?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, certainly,

         24  I think the Council would know better than us.  We

         25  basically --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  No actually, see

          3  the problem is that --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  The money is sent

          5  to us, and it goes into the general fund.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We negotiate a

          7  budget, and the budget has generally anticipated

          8  $200,000 to $250,000 per medallion, and then the

          9  money comes in way beyond that.  So at that point

         10  the Council has less of a say in how that money is

         11  used.  So this is a practice that I just don't like

         12  as an elected member of the Council, and many of my

         13  colleagues don't like this either, that you low

         14  ball, not, you, Commissioner, but the

         15  Administration, low balls these revenue estimates

         16  only to do whatever the Administration favors later

         17  on when the actuals come in higher.

         18                 In fact, just the last round a number

         19  of months ago, the last round of 300 medallions that

         20  were sold, took in a whopping $141 million more than

         21  was anticipated.  So I don't think that anybody

         22  would think that that's proper budgeting.  This is

         23  actually not a reflection of the TLC, but rather

         24  that of the Mayor's Office and OMB.  To keep low

         25  balling these revenue estimates and then not engage
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          2  the legislative body on how to deal with the

          3  overwhelming excess of revenues that have come in.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  If I could

          5  address that very briefly, Mr. Chairman.  While how

          6  the money is spent and what it goes for is certainly

          7  outside my jurisdiction in terms of the

          8  responsibilities I have, obviously, it's not

          9  necessarily outside of your jurisdiction on the

         10  Council because you have obviously say outside of

         11  the Transportation Committee and how the money is

         12  spent.

         13                 I respectfully disagree in terms of

         14  the Administration's role.  I think the

         15  Administration and the Budget Office does a fine job

         16  of estimating revenues, and I think clearly the

         17  Mayor and what he has done has shown, in conjunction

         18  with the Council, that we're able to effectively

         19  manage a budget in the City, as we have over the

         20  last couple of years.  I think when it comes to

         21  something like this, to the extent that I understand

         22  how the medallion prices go up and down, how they

         23  fluctuate, I think it's a sound fiscal practice, not

         24  being a budget expert myself, I think it's a sound

         25  fiscal practice for the Mayor's Office of Management
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          2  and Budget to take a conservative viewpoint as to

          3  what medallions might sell for in an auction where

          4  we have a number of unknowns and issues.

          5                 Just to briefly describe them, you

          6  have the issue of whether we're going to have in the

          7  long- term basis accessible vehicles that are going

          8  to be able to withstand the roads of the City of New

          9  York.  I mean, there have been a handful of

         10  individuals that have taken the business risk, but

         11  if those individuals, let's say don't bid on this

         12  auction, and we have more other people, individual

         13  owners potentially, bidding on these medallions, and

         14  they put forward bids, and the price comes down, I

         15  think it's good to take a conservative view when

         16  estimating the budgetary numbers because there's

         17  instability in an investment like this.

         18                 Compared to other medallions, what

         19  you're looking at here is making a business decision

         20  to run a medallion that is always going to have an

         21  accessible vehicle associated with it, and there has

         22  not been a vehicle that has held up on the streets

         23  of the City of New York yet.  There may be, but

         24  we're still kind of in a testing phase right now.

         25  We have retrofitters that are after market.

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 The second variable is that the

          3  accessible medallions, as much as we think they're a

          4  good investment because you can run any medallion

          5  with them, I guess the unknown is, there hasn't been

          6  an open market transfer yet.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  There have been

          8  open market transfers.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Not for

         10  accessible medallions though.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think even the

         12  Council would prefer to err on the side of

         13  conservatism when it comes to budgeting, but this is

         14  not conservatism.  This is the fourth time in four

         15  years that the City is going to auction off a

         16  significant number of taxi medallions.  And in each

         17  of the prior three years, the revenue estimates has

         18  been substantially, substantially underestimated to

         19  the point that when the Administration comes to this

         20  Committee and this body now and expects only

         21  $200,000 per medallion, I would say that that's not

         22  conservative.  That's just artificially low balling

         23  the revenue estimates.  That is almost arbitrary and

         24  capricious in the number.

         25                 So we look forward to having a real
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          2  dialogue on what to do with that kind of revenue

          3  when it comes in and, as you know, I have been a

          4  proponent of re- investing, not the entire amount of

          5  the money, but even just a small portion of the say

          6  the $141 million windfall from the last sale.  Re-

          7  invest that in the taxi industry in a way that would

          8  make taxi cabs more accessible to wheelchair users,

          9  as well as to more New Yorkers, especially the New

         10  Yorkers who are outside the Manhattan central

         11  business district.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  We'd be happy to

         13  work with you and the Mayor's Office.  If you and

         14  your staff have, and Council Members have alternate

         15  ideas in terms of how we could better estimate this,

         16  we'd be happy to discuss it.  But I am, just for the

         17  record, in favor of having a conservative estimate

         18  because prices go up, they go down, they fluctuate.

         19  There are some unknown variables.  That's really my

         20  position.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And so are we.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  We'd be happy to

         23  talk to you about it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think I can speak

         25  for every one of my colleagues when I say, we want
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          2  conservative estimates too, but none of us want

          3  arbitrary and capricious estimates.

          4                 We've been joined by Council Member

          5  Joe Addabbo from Queens, Gale Brewer from Manhattan

          6  and others, who will be coming. We have questions

          7  from Council Member Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

          9  very much.  My question is just on the revenue of

         10  the technology that I know you and I have discussed,

         11  and Council Member Liu has kindly had hearings on,

         12  and obviously, the drivers have a perspective in

         13  terms of how it should be rolled out, if at all.

         14  But I just want to know what the revenue -- I know

         15  you have a pilot going on, so what does the revenue

         16  look like, if any, and what's the cost?  What's the

         17  budget implications of this technology?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That would be

         19  zero because the City is not paying for the system,

         20  and we're not anticipating any revenue.  It's

         21  basically our involvement is to set regulations to

         22  govern several private vendors that have been

         23  selected that are doing business with the medallion

         24  owners, so we're kind of a guiding hand in

         25  regulatory overseer of the process.  We're not
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          2  expending City monies as part of that contract.  The

          3  only budgetary impact obviously is some of the money

          4  that we've spent on consultants and assistants and

          5  the use of personnel to oversee the project, but

          6  we're not anticipating any revenue to answer your

          7  question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  What

          9  would be the budget then on consultants?  Obviously,

         10  not personnel, but consultants in order to select

         11  these systems?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  You're talking

         13  about the prior fiscal year or anticipated for this

         14  year?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Either one,

         16  both preferably.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  It's about $1

         18  million and a half.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  What

         20  is the timing if all goes according to your scenario

         21  in terms of the pilot ending and project beginning?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, we

         23  anticipate that the pilot will end sometime between

         24  now and the beginning of the summer, and that we'll

         25  start rolling the cabs out in the summer and that
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          2  they will be in every cab by the end of the calendar

          3  year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          5  Obviously, I'm not excited about it, but it's a

          6  budget hearing and not oversight. Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I understand your

          9  feelings on it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         12  Member Brewer. Questions from Council Member

         13  Koppell.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman. I appreciate, Mr. Chairman, your

         16  focusing on the accessible cabs issue because that's

         17  something that you and I have worked on together,

         18  and I have some particular responsibility because I

         19  chair the Committee that deals with disability

         20  rights.

         21                 With respect to the accessible cabs

         22  that were auctioned off last June, what is the

         23  status of those medallions? Have they been put to

         24  use?  Are the accessible cabs being used on the

         25  streets at this point?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That's correct.

          3  We have accessible medallions on the street.  We

          4  have a total of 33 in service at the present time,

          5  and, as you know, we're going to be adding, thanks

          6  to your help and the Speaker and the Mayor, 150

          7  additional.

          8                 We are going to be working in

          9  conjunction with the Council and the Mayor's Office

         10  on a plan that would use a dispatch system, a

         11  centralized dispatch system to help those cabs

         12  better serve the public.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, as you

         14  know, the Council and I personally have some

         15  reservations about the centralized dispatch system

         16  for a number of reasons, which we won't go into

         17  here, but are you planning to put that into effect?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: We're working on a

         19  plan right now.  Obviously, not everyone on the

         20  Council agrees.  There's been some legislation

         21  that's been proposed obviously by some Council

         22  Members to do just that.  So we'd love to hear your

         23  thoughts on that, and in your capacity we'd love to

         24  continue to work with you and maybe set up a meeting

         25  to go over what your reservations would be on that
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          2  type of program.

          3                 In our opinion, we think that's the

          4  most effective way to use those cabs short of making

          5  all of them accessible, if you're going to have a

          6  limited number of them, if there's some type of

          7  dispatch capability, and I think that will better

          8  serve disabled New Yorkers than having somebody

          9  stand on a street corner for an hour waiting for the

         10  hope that one might come by.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  We should

         12  have further discussion on it, but I would oppose

         13  the expenditure of money, quite honestly, for that

         14  purpose, at least until we've had more chance to

         15  discuss it.  So I'm not happy about moving in that

         16  direction.  There is legislation in the Council,

         17  which hasn't been passed, that wasn't in oversight

         18  that it wasn't passed.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That's right.  I

         20  understand.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  It was

         22  intentionally not passed.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  So you're against

         24  us using the $1.3 million that's in our budget for

         25  that purpose?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes, I am

          3  opposed to that, yes.  I am opposed to that because

          4  I think that it will delay and perhaps even void the

          5  movement toward more accessible cabs because this

          6  will be viewed as a substitute, and we don't believe

          7  it's really a substitute.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Understood.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  An

         10  appropriate substitute. There are other problems

         11  too, but that's the principle issue as I see it.

         12                 On another issue if I may, Mr.

         13  Chairman, is the Commission doing anything to widen

         14  the availability, as you know there's been an issue

         15  for me for many years now, of yellow cabs outside

         16  Manhattan?  Are you doing anything to encourage -- I

         17  know you have a project in Flushing, but is there

         18  any other way in which you are encouraging yellow

         19  cabs to operate outside Manhattan?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, I think

         21  there are certainly more and more yellow cabs going

         22  outside of the central business district.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Only when I

         24  take a cab to Riverdale.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, Riverdale's
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          2   --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPELL:  And the

          4  drivers tell me they've never been there before.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  They're far

          6  north, but not that far north.  There actually are a

          7  lot of yellow cabs now that are going into northern

          8  Manhattan, into Harlem, more so than ever before.  I

          9  know that there are much more going into parts of

         10  Brooklyn.

         11                 To the extent that we can't tell the

         12  cabs or force them to go anywhere, it would

         13  obviously involve a overhaul to the system that

         14  differentiates livery's and black cars and for- hire

         15  prearrangement from yellow taxi hail service.  We're

         16  always open to ideas on that front, but what we're

         17  in the process of doing is making sure that the

         18  community car service in the for- hire vehicle

         19  industry enhances its service to the public, gets

         20  even better at what they do.  We're looking making a

         21  variety of reforms and initiatives in that industry.

         22    We believe, in my opinion, I think it's the best

         23  way to get around.  If you're in an unpopulated area

         24  of the City, which is kind of hard to find, but less

         25  populated is maybe better to say.  If you live in,
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          2  let's say the Rockaways, or if you live up in

          3  Riverdale or even in my parts of Brooklyn where I

          4  live, Bayridge, you have basically -- these are the

          5  suburbs for all practical purposes, and I think it's

          6  an unrealistic expectation to expect that a yellow

          7  taxi cab should be going up and down my sidestreet

          8  in Brooklyn or in Riverdale looking for a fare.

          9                 I think that the Council Member's

         10  idea of stands is one that's an interesting one.

         11  It's certainly worked well in Flushing.  I think

         12  that the service makes more sense when you're

         13  dealing with transportation hubs.  The people who

         14  wisely crafted the laws at the time that they

         15  separated the industries and set this up in the 80's

         16  and so forth, realized that what's better than door

         17  to door service?  You call your licensed community

         18  car service base.  They pick you up at your doorstep

         19  and take you wherever you want to go.

         20                 I think that's the transportation

         21  solution under our system for folks that may live in

         22  a less populated area.  When you're talking about

         23  yellow cab service, when you give them the medallion

         24  and the franchise to go wherever they want to go to

         25  earn a living to pay off their medallion loans, I
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          2  think you need to provide opportunities for them,

          3  but you can't really -- we don't have the authority

          4  to tell them you should be going here or you should

          5  be going there, even though I'd love to see them

          6  going up to all parts of the City.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But let me

          8  say --

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I don't know if

         10  that answers your question, but that's really the

         11  kind of the framework we're operating in.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, it

         13  answers my question saying you're not doing

         14  anything.  Well, it is.  Except in Flushing, you're

         15  not doing anything to give us yellow cabs outside

         16  Manhattan and probably also outside central

         17  Manhattan.

         18                 Let me say that you cannot be blind

         19  to the fact that there is an illegal industry out

         20  there that provides an important public service.

         21  That illegal industry is the industry of picking up

         22  street hails on the street outside of Manhattan, and

         23  to some extent in Manhattan, but more heavily

         24  outside Manhattan based on my observations, because

         25  there are no yellow cabs.
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          2                 Now I suppose we've lived for the

          3  last X number of years with an illegal system, but

          4  my view is that we shouldn't have illegal systems.

          5  People shouldn't be encouraged to violate the law,

          6  as they are under the current system, and that we

          7  ought to think about a way of legalizing the system.

          8

          9                 Now if it can't be done by getting

         10  yellow cabs to go outside Manhattan, then maybe we

         11  should have an alternative.

         12                 Let me also say that there is a

         13  middle ground between street hails and some system

         14  that would allow what is rampant in my district, and

         15  I suspect in many other districts, and that is that

         16  at transportation points there are gypsy cabs, if

         17  you will, who pick up street hails, but mostly at

         18  transportation hubs. Maybe we should legalize that

         19  so that we don't have a situation which we have now

         20  and which I'm perfectly willing to admit I take

         21  advantage of on occasion that when I get off the

         22  subway at 242nd street and there is no convenient

         23  bus that could take me right up the hill, there are

         24  a bunch of guys who have gypsy cabs, who for four or

         25  five dollars will take me up the hill to my house.
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          2  I take advantage of that, I'm willing to admit, even

          3  though those people are providing a service that is

          4  technically, at least, illegal.

          5                 In fact, they stand there and look

          6  around furtively because, on occasion, the police

          7  ticket them, and they have to pay large fines.  Now,

          8  in my opinion, that shouldn't be the case.  If

          9  that's a service that people need, and I can tell

         10  you that my constituents need it, it ought to be

         11  some how regularized.  It ought to be somehow made

         12  legal.  If the yellow cabs won't service that area,

         13  and they won't, then somebody else will, and they

         14  should be regulated.  The Commission should look

         15  into that, not just close your eyes to what is

         16  obvious if you would open them.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I think it's a

         18  good conversation to have, and we'd be happy to have

         19  it, but with all due respect, Council Member, I

         20  think it's a little unfair to say that there is

         21  nothing that we are doing about it.  We cannot under

         22  our jurisdiction do anything about it without the

         23  Council changing the laws because the laws -- I

         24  don't know if you're familiar with this. The local

         25  laws that were passed years ago, that you all have
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          2  the ability to change, prevent us from doing

          3  anything in that regard.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well,

          5  propose a change.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  We'd love to talk

          7  to you about it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay.  I

          9  would ask you and you and the Administration to

         10  propose a change, and I may well sponsor it.  I

         11  don't know exactly the best way to do it, and there

         12  are different things that need to be taken into

         13  account, but I think a change in the law is

         14  necessary.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I'd love to, if

         16  it's okay with the Chair, and he's invited, I'd love

         17  to have a meeting with you and your staff to discuss

         18  those two issues.

         19                 CHAIRMAN LIU:  Absolutely, but we

         20  have had those discussions.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That's correct.

         22                 CHAIRMAN LIU:  Both in private

         23  meetings, as well as in testimony here heard in this

         24  Committee.  The idea that there are large numbers of

         25  New Yorkers who demand a service and yet our legal
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          2  framework does not allow them to receive that

          3  service on a legal basis, even though they are

          4  getting that service.

          5                 So we've talked about this at length.

          6    We had introduced some legislation a few years

          7  ago, which I believe the Administration did not

          8  favor, that would actually allow livery cars to take

          9  street hails in areas that have traditionally been

         10  underserved by yellow medallion taxi cabs.  That was

         11  the language of the bill.  That was a vociferously

         12  opposed, which is why we then went to the idea of

         13  setting up the taxi stands in major transit hub

         14  areas to encourage the yellows to go out there, so

         15  that the service that people were actually demanding

         16  could be had on a legal basis. But I do agree with

         17  you, Commissioner, that this is not something that

         18  we can fault the Commission for not doing

         19  necessarily because it is something that requires

         20  legislation from the Council.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  But also, Mr.

         22  Chairman --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think Council

         24  Member Koppell is very thoughtful in stimulating

         25  that discussion, and we will continue.  I do want to
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          2  move --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Can I just

          4  respond to that very quickly just to put things in

          5  context?  If I remember the testimony correctly and

          6  the Administration and my opposition to the bill, it

          7  was at a time of following 911 of some severe City-

          8  wide budgetary problems.

          9                 I think our primary objection to

         10  doing the stands and a lot of the interesting ideas

         11  that the Council came up with was because of doing

         12  it right, we would need the appropriate resources to

         13  staff the stands, and it wasn't until these private

         14  sector people came up with the ability to get

         15  dispatchers there that we were able to actually pull

         16  it off in your district.  But certainly it was

         17  primarily a fiscal objection at the time, and a lot

         18  of things changed since then.  It's a new day  A new

         19  fiscal year is upon us, so let's take a fresh look

         20  at it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Including the $141

         22  million windfall from the taxi medallion sale.

         23  Questions from Council Member Martinez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair.  I just want to echo Councilman Koppell's
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          2  concern.  We see a few of them but we don't see them

          3  often in northern Manhattan, particularly picking

          4  up.  Rather, we see them more dropping off in

          5  northern Manhattan.  I think it's encouraging to

          6  hear from the Commissioner that the willingness to

          7  listen to various proposals that were presented on

          8  this issue a couple of years back in terms of making

          9  available transportation to all New Yorkers.

         10                 I think it's a reflection also of the

         11  fact that this body had to regulate the other

         12  industry that was also providing, the petty cabs

         13  that were providing a form of transportation is

         14  indicative that in the City of New York, any means

         15  of transportation is needed.  It's not that there

         16  isn't a demand for New Yorkers to be transported

         17  along the City of New York.  I guess that everyone

         18  in every industry has a role to play and money to

         19  make, which is the big issue.  We can't go around it

         20    This is about money and industries wanting to make

         21  money and guarding that revenue generating industry.

         22    I think there is enough of that out there to be

         23  made, and I think that there are Communities that

         24  would benefit in having transportation to all.

         25                 Commissioner, I wanted to focus on
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          2  part of your testimony because I received several

          3  calls both from the yellow cabs, from black cars,

          4  from livery cars with the new initiative that you

          5  have of the inspections.  I don't see that, or you

          6  didn't mention, any additional monies for personnel

          7  for the inspection. Because now you have one site

          8  where everybody has to go for the inspection, and I

          9  don't know the system.  I actually have a call

         10  pending to you.  Because I received a lot of calls

         11  from everyone from the industry about how

         12  frustrating it is and how you have to wait a long

         13  time, and everybody has to go to the same place.  So

         14  if you could just tell us a little bit about the

         15  whole process and why have two inspections when the

         16  Department of Motor Vehicles already inspects the

         17  vehicles?  Don't you have to have an inspection by

         18  the Department of Motor Vehicles?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes, that's

         20  correct.  Actually from a budgetary standpoint it's

         21  not really applicable just yet. There hasn't been

         22  any official action taken by the Board of

         23  Commissioners.  There were some proposals that are a

         24  preliminary part and a small part of our overall

         25  plan to reform the for- hire vehicle industry and
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          2  make it better, raising the standards, creating more

          3  accountability by the bases.  That's something that

          4  we're committed to during the remainder of this

          5  Administration.

          6                 We haven't even begun to formalize

          7  any Budgetary impact just yet because we want to

          8  basically find out what's going to pass.  It's not a

          9  done deal.  It hasn't passed the Commission. A lot

         10  of ideas and concepts were presented yesterday at

         11  our meeting.  One of them was the inspections.

         12                 Based on a lawsuit that was brought

         13  in the 80's, every for- hire vehicle and yellow cab

         14  has to be inspected three times per year, as opposed

         15  to our private vehicles, which are required by state

         16  law to be inspected one time per year.  The Federal

         17  Consent Decree which was a Court Order that came out

         18  of the resolution of that lawsuit, which is still

         19  binding upon us today in Federal Court, requires

         20  that those three yellow cab inspections be conducted

         21  at our Woodside centralized inspection facility and

         22  that there Department of Motor Vehicle inspections

         23  be performed per year for each for- hire vehicle.

         24  That includes the community car service vehicles,

         25  black cars and luxury limousines.  The rationale for
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          2  the proposal that we're talking about and we heard

          3  public testimony about yesterday was two- fold.

          4                 Number one, as a matter of

          5  convenience, our facility now is now a DMV certified

          6  facility.  So you could actually come to our

          7  Woodside facilities and get your DMV sticker there

          8  and pass your inspection there.  Where previously,

          9  and I had pointed that out in my testimony today,

         10  you would have to basically if you're a yellow cab,

         11  for instance, get inspected by us, pass and go to a

         12  DMV facility afterwards.  So that's one small step

         13  in terms of reducing the burden on the industry.

         14                 Number two, part of the problem in

         15  the for- hire and livery industry is that we need to

         16  see these vehicles.  The TLC should be able to have

         17  through its doors at least once every two years,

         18  which I don't think is an onerous thing to ask for,

         19  a livery vehicle for us to look at to make sure that

         20  whatever rules we end up passing, whether it's

         21  posting the licenses like the yellow cabs, which is

         22  something that we also proposed, whether it's

         23  putting signage on the vehicle, whether there's an

         24  aesthetic issue with the cars.

         25                 I think we need to start looking at
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          2  some of these business and some of the cars, most of

          3  the cars are five, six, seven, eight, nine, ten

          4  years old.  Some of them, even though they passed

          5  their DMV inspection, leave little to be desired in

          6  terms of their aesthetics.

          7                 One of the reasons why the yellow cab

          8  is known around the world as one of the best systems

          9  right up there next to "Buy London," quite frankly,

         10  is because they're clean and that they get inspected

         11  regularly.

         12                 I think the yellow cab system is

         13  really the testament to the fact that when we go

         14  into the back of the cars and take out the gum

         15  wrappers, make sure that they're clean and that

         16  they're not falling apart, when we start looking at

         17  the aesthetics, it does away with the whole broken

         18  windows theory of our industries.  If a car looks

         19  good, smells good, rides well and is safe, I think

         20  that's better for everybody.

         21                 So I don't really think we're asking

         22  for that much. We're basically saying, every two

         23  years you have to, by law, get six inspections at a

         24  DMV facility.  We're saying, one of those six come

         25  to our facility instead.  I don't think that that's
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          2  really very onerous, and various of our

          3  Commissioners, quite frankly, are proposing more

          4  extreme measures, such as retiring vehicles like we

          5  do in the yellow cab industry.  So there's a debate

          6  going on. Nothing's been decided, but that's the

          7  reasons why we're doing it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  But the

          9  heart of the issue -- I don't think no one disagreed

         10  that the Department should inspect the vehicles,

         11  look at these vehicles, insure that they're

         12  certified in terms of their safety to be out in the

         13  street.  I think no one disagrees with that whether

         14  they're, yellow, black, livery, and so forth.

         15                 The issue is, what is the Commission

         16  doing in terms of budgeting?  For example if I'm a

         17  fleet owner, now I have to pay a driver to go to

         18  your facility to inspect the vehicles, so now I have

         19  to pay a drive to spend a day, get the vehicle

         20  inspected.  My question is basically in terms of,

         21  what are you doing in terms of getting these guys in

         22  and out when you have one facility to have, you just

         23  mentioned over 100,000 drivers?  And vehicles you're

         24  talking about you inspect 37,000 for- hire vehicles.

         25    That's a lot of vehicles.  At a given day you
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          2  could easily have in your facility over 20 or 15 or

          3  10,000 vehicles waiting to be inspected.  My

          4  question is, what are you doing in terms budget to

          5  increase the personnel to make sure that you get

          6  these guys in and out?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well it's a very

          8   --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Obviously,

         10  in and out. It's safe to be in and out.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  It's certainly a

         12  very good point, and it's something that we have

         13  considered.  I guess the good news is, we couldn't

         14  even think about doing this years ago. When we

         15  started reforming the way we do business in the

         16  agency in terms of enhancing the processing times

         17  and so forth, we made a lot of managerial changes at

         18  the safety and emissions division.  We upgraded the

         19  entire facility where over 60,000 yellow cabs are

         20  inspected each year.

         21                 We basically are getting all the

         22  vehicles out of there by 11 O'clock every day.  We

         23  have, through administrative efficiency and good

         24  managerial practice, done our job better so that we

         25  freed up our personnel to do more work.  We believe
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          2  we can handle it.

          3                 I don't believe we can handle, at

          4  this point without extra money and budgets and

          5  potentially extra lanes, six inspections every two

          6  years.  I think the DMV would still have to do that.

          7    But we did an analysis, and we believe with

          8  existing resources, existing personnel we could

          9  handle it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I'll reach

         11  out to your offer to Mr. Chair.  I'll also will

         12  reach out to you.  I would love to go and take a

         13  tour.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Of that

         16  particular facility to see the handling of these

         17  vehicles being inspected and so forth.  Just to take

         18  a look at it.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  We'd be happy to

         20  do that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  The amount

         22  of calls that I've been getting, not only from the

         23  livery, but actually from the yellow cab industry,

         24  and some from fleet owners about this issue, and I

         25  do have a call pending to you about this issue.
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          2  Finally --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  We'll set that

          4  right away. We're very proud of it, and I think

          5  you'd be very impressed with it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Finally,

          7  Mr. Chair I just want to also agree with you in

          8  terms of the estimate for the monies for the

          9  medallions.  I just wanted to ask, you're saying

         10  $100,000 per medallion?  Are you considering the

         11  fact that now with the new technology, as Council

         12  Member Brewer mentioned, the value of medallions are

         13  going to be greater now that we have the ability to

         14  generate revenues from different sources?  Not only

         15  cash, but also now with credit cards.  Doesn't that

         16  increase the value of the medallion that now you're

         17  actually going to have assets to getting your fares

         18  at a much easier rate?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I mean, if you

         20  look at history and look at the price of the

         21  medallion, I think that indicates it's a good

         22  investment.  It has gone up over time.  I think

         23  there is no question about that.  The rate of return

         24  is better than most real property or stocks.  Just

         25  like it's difficult to interpret the stock market
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          2  and what prices are going to go up and down in terms

          3  of stocks, I think it's equally difficult to, over a

          4  short period of time, and I mean by a few months, to

          5  determine what could or would happen with medallion

          6  prices.

          7                 I think in the long term the prices

          8  pretty much go up, but there are peaks and valleys.

          9  We've been riding a trend, which is fueled by a

         10  number of different reasons, I believe, and it's

         11  hard to pinpoint what's more.  You have low interest

         12  rates for the loans over the years.  The Commission

         13  hasn't done anything since 1998 that has been

         14  necessary of a regulatory nature that would cause

         15  investors and medallion finances to be alarmed.

         16                 The things that the TLC does or one

         17  of the things that effect prices, the interest rates

         18  that are being charged, the cash flow that owners

         19  and drivers have as a result of fare increases and

         20  lease cap issues.  I think all these factors are

         21  part of a very difficult puzzle to analyze in the

         22  short term.  I can't really sit here and tell you

         23  that one particular factor is going say tomorrow

         24  that the price is going to go up or down.

         25                 I can say overall the industry is
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          2  healthy.  I think the drivers are doing better than

          3  they've ever done before.  I think the owners are

          4  doing very well.  The new credit cards and

          5  technology enhancements were something that were

          6  built into prior fare increases and that were paid

          7  for.  I'm optimistic that the price is going remain

          8  relatively stable overall.

          9                 The accessible vehicles, like I

         10  indicated earlier, is something that, depending on

         11  who bids and how many people bid and depending on

         12  what happens with the vehicle market, in terms of

         13  what manufacturers are producing vehicles that can

         14  meet our standards to be accessible, I think those

         15  are variables which may cause concerns that could

         16  lead to fluctuation in prices.  I mean, I guess to

         17  answer your question, I can't predict it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair and finally, I work with you to monitor

         20  the sales of these medallions, particularly to see

         21  what percentage of these medallions are actually

         22  going to be accessible to independent owners,

         23  driver/owners and not so much fleet operators.

         24  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council
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          2  Member Martinez.  We've been joined by Council

          3  Member Mike McMahon from Staten Island and Council

          4  Member Diana Reyna from Brooklyn. Council Member

          5  Reyna.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.  I just wanted to take this opportunity to

          8  welcome Chairman Daus to the Preliminary Budget

          9  Season.  I'm trying to get an understanding of the

         10  $100,000 -- just piggy- backing off what Council

         11  Member Martinez was just asking you as far as

         12  efficiency of response time.  I'll try to simplify

         13  it so that I can get a clear answer in return.

         14                 Have you made an evaluation of the

         15  response time of the Commission in order to get

         16  drivers in and out?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And what is

         19  it?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  You're speaking

         21  about inspection facility?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Yes.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Basically, a

         24  yellow cab is scheduled for a time to show up.  The

         25  typical waiting time before they're inspected is
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          2  about 20 minutes, and the actual inspection takes 20

          3  minutes.  It's a four point inspection that includes

          4  over 250 different inspection points.  So it's about

          5  a 40 to 45 minute experience, which is more than

          6  half of what it used to be.  Less than half.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So you're

          8  estimating that it's a 40 minute per driver or per

          9  vehicle inspection?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes.  Inspection

         11  experience is about --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Correct.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  The same, yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  How many hours

         15  a day does the inspection facility operate?  Is it a

         16  9 to 5?  Is it a 7 in the morning to 3?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  No.  I can get

         18  you the exact hours.  My understanding is the bulk

         19  of the operations I believe start at 5:30 and --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  5:30 in the

         21  morning?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yeah and end

         23  around noon.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And end at

         25  noon?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yeah and then

          3  there's a bunch of activity that happens kind of

          4  ancillary to the main inspection activity.  On sunny

          5  days.  New hack- ups occur.  There's other

          6  inspections that our folks do, accessible, para-

          7  transit vehicles, as well as limousines.  So there

          8  is a lot of other activity that happens at the

          9  facility other than inspections, but the primary

         10  activity is inspections.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And the

         12  inspections are for not just the taxi industry, the

         13  for- hire vehicles?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Let me make it

         15  clear because I think there's a -- I sense that you

         16  are probably getting some phone calls.  Currently,

         17  the Court requires the TLC regulated vehicles to get

         18  inspected three times a year.  On the yellow vehicle

         19  side we actually have a facility where we inspect

         20  the vehicles ourselves three times a year.  That

         21  inspection includes a State DMV inspection, as well

         22  as other features like, is the back seat ripped, and

         23  things that DMV wouldn't necessarily pick up.

         24                 As for the rest of the regulated

         25  industry, they have to have a DMV sticker, but
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          2  they're also required to get an additional DMV

          3  inspection an additional two times per year.  So

          4  they get three DMV inspections done at their

          5  facility of choice.

          6                 There was a proposal that was

          7  discussed at yesterday's Commission meeting to have

          8  the other regulated vehicles inspected at TLC's main

          9  facility once every two years, which is once every

         10  licensing cycle.  And perhaps that's one of the

         11  things that you have been called about.  We're

         12  certainly happy to show you the facility, and you

         13  can get a sense of how it works.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So how many

         15  vehicles a day, estimating 40 minute total

         16  experience, working operating hours of 5:30 in the

         17  morning to noon?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I'm not going to

         19  try to do the math quickly in my head.  There's

         20  eight lanes.  Six of the lanes are primarily for --

         21  two are for reinspections that can handle multiple

         22  vehicles.  I believe its eight vehicles per lane per

         23  hour.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

         25  Excuse me, the Council has very generously funded
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          2  the lane upgrade over the years, and that has

          3  enabled us to add an update these lanes because

          4  they've been in effect for many many, years.  We

          5  would love to crunch these numbers with you.  If

          6  you'd like, Council Member, we'd love to have you

          7  join us for the tour.  Maybe we could do it together

          8  if you'd like.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Absolutely.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

         11  Because I'd love for you to see, and actually -- we

         12  talk to the drivers as well --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Council Member

         14  Brewer would like to be there as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think that's a

         16  good idea.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

         18  It's an open invitation.  We'll bring you down

         19  there.  As long you don't have an quorum problems

         20  you can --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We'll break it up

         23  into two shifts.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:  If

         25  you come in the afternoon, it will be empty.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Dead. Exactly.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:  So

          4  we can pick it up at --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  That's what

          6  he's looking for.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:  I

          8  figure between 5:30 and 6:00.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON  LIU:  Okay, Andrew.  We

         10  got it.  What time's, lunch by the way?  Thank you,

         11  Council Member Reyna and final --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I'm sorry, Mr.

         13  Chair.  We were doing calculations here.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So we were

         16  trying to get the efficiency of response time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  It's probably about

         18  500 vehicles a day.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

         20  It's about 42 to an hour that we're capable of

         21  seeing for initial inspections, and currently the

         22  facility does five to six hours of inspections.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  300 per day.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Exactly.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:
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          2  But it, the idea is, it could be open longer, adding

          3  additional shifts.  I think getting to the Council

          4  Member's point, as more vehicles come in, we do

          5  more.  Just for record, we do about 50,000 to 60,000

          6  inspections a year on the 13,000 yellow cabs.  Many

          7  of them come back for additional inspections and

          8  such.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  As far as your

         10  head count is concerned in reference to the

         11  inspection facilities, are you going to be budgeting

         12  for your new proposal to hire further head count?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

         14  The Commissioner already answered the question.

         15  I'll just reiterate it.  The idea is, if we have

         16  more people coming, we will absolutely need more

         17  people hours to do that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  But right now

         19   --

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

         21  Right now, there's no proposal, there's no plan,

         22  there's no rules passed. There's nothing to kind of

         23  do a budget estimate.  We've estimated what we will

         24  need to do this.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right now what
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          2  is your head count?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:  At

          4  that facility?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Yes.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

          7  It's about 60 people that make that facility work,

          8  including senior officers and managers.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  In terms of this

         10  particular budget testimony, this budget some of the

         11  figures that you're going over with Andrew are not

         12  part of that.  This is part of a preliminary

         13  contingency analysis that he's been doing inside the

         14  agency, which really hasn't been approved by the

         15  Mayor's office or anybody.  It's all contingent upon

         16  the Commission passing rules mandating this, which,

         17  of course, includes an effective date for doing so.

         18  Based upon the meeting we had yesterday, we're not

         19  even close to doing that anytime soon.  So it's not

         20  reflected in this budget.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Just for the

         22  sake understanding your budget head count at the

         23  inspection facility, 60 people as far as personnel

         24  is concerned, what is the total budget?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  We'd have to get
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          2  that breakdown for you.  My testimony has set forth

          3  the budget for the agency. Our overall number of

          4  employees at the agency is 418 head count employees.

          5    We have a budgeted head count that we can go up 10

          6  more to 428.  We'll be happy to get you those

          7  figures on or before you come to see our facility.

          8  We will break it out per department for you.  We

          9  don't have that with us now, and it's not in the MMR

         10  in the Budget.  We'd have to get that internally for

         11  you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Out of your

         13  Budget, what is City tax levy dollars?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SALKIN:

         15  City funds is 100 percent.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  The expansion

         17  of this facility would cost the City --

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  These are very

         19  preliminary numbers.  We estimate that whatever

         20  we're going to do is going to be minimized by the

         21  administrative efficiencies.  We've made tremendous

         22  strides in terms of reducing the amount of time that

         23  it takes for someone to get inspected due to the way

         24  we schedule and conduct the inspections.  We've made

         25  it more streamlined.
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          2                 I'm not saying that eventually we

          3  might not be coming back if these rules pass, which

          4  they haven't, but if they do, we may be coming back

          5  at some point and asking the Mayor's office and you

          6  for more money.  We're not even at that point yet.

          7  It's not part of this budget and this testimony.

          8  It's something that we may have to ask for some, but

          9  it's not going to be as much because we feel that a

         10  lot of the man hours that we have now and women

         11  hours of our employees can be used to basically

         12  accommodate these liveries.

         13                 We've done so well with the yellows,

         14  we freed up some extra time that we believe we can

         15  handle it and cushion it. We may need some more

         16  money eventually, but we're not even close to

         17  finalizing this.  This may not happen.  It may

         18  happen.  It depends on the commissioners.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And as far as

         20  your decision as far as inspecting yellow cabs, but

         21  not other industries, the DMV stickers, what was the

         22  reason or the rationale behind that?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, the

         24  rationale, I'm not really sure why they split it up

         25  that way.  It could have to do with the volume, but
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          2  this goes back into the 80's.  It was a federal

          3  consent decree that a judge said, three times a year

          4  the FHV's go to DMV facilities, and three times a

          5  year the yellow cabs go to the Woodside inspection

          6  facility.

          7                 I do know from my understanding of

          8  the history of the agency that there was some

          9  general concerns by the Queensborough President at

         10  one time years back and the residents of Woodside

         11  that they don't want thousands and thousands of

         12  vehicles coming in there.  And that's something that

         13  we took into consideration.  We don't want

         14  necessarily every single livery vehicle going there

         15  three times a year.  We'd probably have to do an

         16  environmental assessment for that situation.  We'd

         17  have all sorts of potential congestion issues.

         18                 So we were very careful in some of

         19  the preliminary figures.  But I guess the point is

         20  it's very preliminary.  It's not anything official

         21  yet.  We've had some proposed rules that were up for

         22  discussion.  We've had public testimony.  I believe

         23  a member of your office came and delivered testimony

         24  on some items, and we appreciated that yesterday.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I wanted to
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          2  ask you, Chairman, as far as the revenues that TLC

          3  generates, I don't see that in your testimony.

          4  Forgive me if this was asked already. What is the

          5  total amount?  And does it go back into the general

          6  funds?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  The total amount

          8  of revenue for Fiscal '06 is $42.3 million.  For FY

          9   '07 it's $174.5 million.  The numbers --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  For '07 was --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Typically our

         12  revenue is between, over the last several fiscal

         13  years, agency generated revenue that does not

         14  include medallion sales is anywhere between $38 and

         15  $43 million.  When you start adding medallion sale

         16  revenue, which does technically come in under our

         17  heading, but then goes into the general fund, not

         18  back to our agency, you're talking about an excess

         19  of $130 million, which includes, of course, the

         20  overall agency revenue of $40 million plus.  So on

         21  average it's between the high 30's and the low 40

         22  million dollar area, and that includes license fees,

         23  fines, et cetera.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  My final

         25  question, Mr. Chair, the GPS pilot program, the TLC
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          2  right now it's my understanding that the drivers get

          3  reimbursed for credit card transactions that are not

          4  completed for that ridership.  Who reimburses that

          5  driver?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, some of the

          7  details about who pays for the credit card

          8  transaction fees hasn't been worked out.  In fact, I

          9  specifically tabled it yesterday for more discussion

         10  as to how much is borne by the driver and how much

         11  is borne by the owner.  In terms of canceled credit

         12  cards, we'd have to get back to you on some of those

         13  logistics.  There's a lot of misinformation about

         14  the program.  If you open up the paper or watch

         15  t.v., you have people protesting that it's a GPS

         16  project. GPS is one small component, as you know,

         17  because you held a hearing on it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  The taxicab

         20  technology enhancements for the general public.  GPS

         21  is necessary to do some of the things that we need

         22  to do, including collecting some fare information.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I understand

         24  that advertising is part of it as well.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right.  To offset
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          2  the costs for the driver and for the owners.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And who gets

          4  that advertising fees collected, or the generated

          5  revenue from the advertising, who receives it?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  The contracted

          7  vendors receive that money, and that enables them to

          8  reduce the cost of their units and their fees to the

          9  owners, which includes some drivers because there

         10  are individual medallion owners that have --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  TLC does not

         12  see any of that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  No.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Okay.  Thank

         15  you.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  You're welcome.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         18  Member Reyna. And a final question from Council

         19  Member McMahon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Not a

         21  question, Mr. Chairman, just to the Commissioner and

         22  to your staff, I also want to express my voice to

         23  the chorus of those who have raised concerns over

         24  the initiative of asking the 400 liveries to come

         25  out to Long Island City, Liffrak City, to have their
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          2  cabs inspected there, without any provision for what

          3  it would do to their business and the cost and

          4  everything else, so I know it's an issue under

          5  deliberation, but I just want my voice heard on the

          6  fact that I think for someone who has a business of

          7  20 cabs, to put them all off the road for the day,

          8  or how ever long it would take, could be onerous

          9  depending on how you do it, so please keep us posted

         10  on your decision making on that.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Absolutely.  I

         12  thought that was going to be a tough question like

         13  why aren't there any yellow cabs in Staten Island?

         14  But I'm glad you didn't ask that one.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  You know,

         17  now that you mention it, I will ask this.  At the

         18  Staten Island Ferry, in particular, you have a real

         19  plethora of sort of gypsy cabs, people hawking down

         20  individuals if they want a ride, getting into

         21  minivans, and the like.  Is that under your

         22  jurisdiction?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, you're

         24  talking about, I guess ramp B and ramp F.  There are

         25  these two ramps, and it's been a consistent problem
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          2  for us in terms of enforcement, and we're going to

          3  continue our enforcement in that area.

          4                 The problem is that people get off

          5  the ferry, and they do just go right into these

          6  liveries, and if there's something we can do in

          7  terms of a public awareness initiative, we'd like to

          8  work with your office on that because I think there

          9  are still, and this is why we proposed some of the

         10  FHV reforms that we did yesterday.  A lot of members

         11  of the public don't know what they're getting into

         12  and what they're doing.  We're asking simply, post

         13  your license.  I want to send my family or myself in

         14  a cab, a livery cab that I know the person's face.

         15  I see the face, I see the license.  I know their

         16  license.  That's what, I think the general public

         17  deserves.

         18                 In terms of the markings on the

         19  vehicles, another thing that was proposed.  I think

         20  that most of the livery bases that are licensed and

         21  doing good work in Staten Island have those markings

         22  already.  But it helps enforcement to distinguish

         23  between the legal and illegal more effectively and,

         24  more importantly, it helps the riding public to

         25  realize that I'm know exactly what's legal and
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          2  what's not.  We want to encourage them to call the

          3  car service bases.  We want to get them in that

          4  frame of mind, and some of the things we're looking

          5  at will hopefully help us to address that situation

          6  better.

          7                 The ferry ramp, it's within our

          8  jurisdiction to the extent that we can and do send

          9  enforcement there, and we'd like to maybe brainstorm

         10  with your office as to the times and what other

         11  ideas we have to make that better, because I know

         12  it's an ongoing problem for us.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  What's legal

         14  and what's not legal?  It's really not legal for

         15  anyone to sit there not being called directly and

         16  try to engender business, is that correct?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So anyone

         19  who is sitting there saying, hey, come in my taxi,

         20  that's illegal, isn't it?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right.  It's the

         22  same issue that we had discussed earlier with

         23  Council Member Koppell that we're going to take a

         24  fresh look at.  The illegality of the street hail

         25  but then you also have problem of --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  This is a

          3  disservice that is substantially beyond the scope of

          4  the budget, but it is an important issue, which is

          5  why we are scheduling hearings because the reality

          6  that people can't tell what's a legal car service or

          7  not, or what's a legal commuter van or not, that's

          8  an issue that we're going to be dealing with.  There

          9  are bills pending.  I want to thank you,

         10  Commissioner Daus and your team from the TLC for

         11  joining us today.  I want to thank you, Council

         12  Member McMahon for your indulgence here because we

         13  have MTA officials itching to testify.  We are

         14  eating into their time allocation.  I know they want

         15  as much time as possible here.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I hope that means

         17  we're not going to be put at the end next time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  No, no.  Thank you

         19  very much. Thank you.  With that, I'd like to invite

         20  our esteemed officials from the Metropolitan

         21  Transportation Authority to join us.

         22                 Gentlemen, it's great to have you

         23  back before this Committee.  Once again, it's time

         24  for the Preliminary Budget, and we'll look forward

         25  to your testimony and just take your time getting
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          2  settled, and thanks for bearing with us.

          3                 MR. CHUBAK:  Mr. Chairman, just as

          4  they get ready, that we met with the Governor this

          5  morning.  I don't know if you were there, but he

          6  promised us there wouldn't be a fare increase.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We should have gone

          8  to testimony first, and then you said that.  Please

          9  proceed when you're ready.

         10                 MR. LANIGAN:  Good morning,

         11  Councilman Liu.  I'm sorry.  Good morning, Chairman

         12  Liu and Members of the Committee. My name is Gary

         13  Lanigan, and I'm the Director of Budgets and

         14  Financial Management at Metropolitan Transportation

         15  Authority.  I'm joined today on my left by Greg

         16  Kullberg, the Director of Capital Programs, on my

         17  right, Michael Chubak, the Director of the Office of

         18  Management and Budget in New York City Transit, and

         19  on the far left, Mr. Thomas Del Sorbo, the Executive

         20  Vice- President for the MTA Bus Company.

         21                 We appreciate this opportunity to

         22  discuss the status of MTA's financial and capital

         23  plans.  This consists of a family of agencies that

         24  covers 14 counties and that delivers 9 million

         25  subway, commuter rail, bus and bridge and tunnel
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          2  trips each week day.  This is accomplished with a

          3  workforce of 69,000 men and women and an annual

          4  operating budget of $10 billion and a current

          5  capital program of $21 billion for 2005 through

          6  2009.

          7                 Before I begin discussing the MTA's

          8  financial plan, I'd like to highlight the

          9  accomplishments that this workforce has achieved

         10  over the years.  I should point out that these

         11  accomplishments have been achieved without

         12  significant increase in costs.  I will explain that

         13  later in my testimony.

         14                 First, let's start with ridership.

         15  Ridership has soared increasingly by 38 percent

         16  since 1996.  We now provide 600 million more trips

         17  annually than we did ten years ago and have

         18  increased our service to support this demand.

         19  Additionally, MTA Bus is projected to carry

         20  approximately 100 million passengers per year.

         21  We've also seen a 16 percent increase in bridge and

         22  tunnel crossings over the same time period.

         23                 These ridership increases are due in

         24  no small measure to the introduction of both

         25  MetroCard and EZ Pass and their associated
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          2  discounts.  Customers today are paying less to ride

          3  our subways and buses than they were over ten years

          4  ago.  Customers can count on more reliable service

          5  from all of our agencies.  New York City Transit has

          6  seen a 45 percent increase in the mean distance

          7  between failure of its subway fleet.  This means

          8  that trains are traveling greater and greater

          9  distances before breaking down.  We are not only

         10  serving our customers more reliably, but we are also

         11  serving them more safely.  Customer injuries have

         12  been reduced by 33 percent since 1996 and employee

         13  injuries by 59 percent over that time period thanks

         14  to the implementation of an MTA- wide best practice

         15  employee safety program.

         16                 These accomplishments provided the

         17  context for MTA's transition of service from the

         18  private buses from the City. Everyone recognized

         19  that the level of service provided by the MTA

         20  promised significant improvements to the customers

         21  of the private bus lines.  Since this undertaking

         22  began in January of 2005, the new MTA bus company

         23  has added 575 new buses, which not only make this

         24  ride more consistent and comfortable for our

         25  customers, but also have the added benefit of being
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          2  much cleaner for the environment and compliant with

          3  the Americans with Disabilities Act.

          4                 The average age of the bus fleet has

          5  been reduced from 13.5 years at the time of

          6  transition to the MTA to 6.3 years. Further, 73

          7  percent of the fleet operated without wheelchair

          8  lifts, while now 100 percent of the buses are

          9  equipped.  Surely this is beneficial to the senior

         10  and disabled communities.  The new buses are

         11  operating with ultra- low sulfur clean diesel fuel

         12  that is much better for the environment also.

         13                 Finally, and most importantly, all of

         14  this underscores the role that MTA plays in the

         15  economic vitality of the region.  The regional

         16  growth that has funded the economy could not have

         17  been possible without the MTA services.  And MTA

         18  will be the force behind the growth anticipated over

         19  the next 30 years.

         20                 Achieving this level of success in

         21  the future, of course, depends upon addressing

         22  services we face in our operating and capital

         23  budget.  Meeting this challenge is going to take our

         24  best efforts and workforce, but also it will require

         25  the work of our funding partners, including
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          2  yourselves.

          3                 The MTA's four year financial plan

          4  was updated last month to incorporate decisions made

          5  by our Board last December.

          6                 In summary, the MTA has a $10 billion

          7  annual operating budget, 40 percent of which is

          8  driven by costs beyond our control, including things

          9  such as health, welfare, debt service, pensions,

         10  insurance and paratransit.

         11                 These costs are growing well in

         12  excess of inflation. Of the remaining 60 percent of

         13  our annual controllable expenses, over 90 percent

         14  pay for service delivery including operation,

         15  maintenance and security.  These costs are primarily

         16  inflation driven with additions for enhanced

         17  service, increased security and improved

         18  maintenance.  Revenues to pay for these expenses are

         19  flattening.  The result of these two forces,

         20  uncontrollable costs and flattening revenues, is a

         21  large financial gap beginning next year, our Fiscal

         22  Year 2008.

         23                 Let's talk about these issues in more

         24  detail.  I'll begin with the discussion of revenues

         25  as presented in the MTA's current financial plan.
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          2  In 2007 the MTA expects to generate $5.5 billion,

          3  almost 60 percent of its total $9.6 billion in

          4  operating revenue primarily from fares and tolls.

          5  This is a phenomenally high fare box return,

          6  significantly higher than any other system in the

          7  country.  Remaining revenues come from subsidies, 33

          8  percent come from dedicated taxes such as sales tax,

          9  corporate franchise tax, petroleum business tax,

         10  urban tax and mortgage recording tax, and 9 percent

         11  come from the State general fund and local

         12  subsidies.               The Financial Plan, which

         13  projects revenues over the next few years, assuming

         14  no fare increases, identifies some worrying trends.

         15  Not only are fare box revenues leveling off, but so

         16  too are our subsidies, which until now, had shown

         17  extraordinary growth.  Real estate tax revenues,

         18  which grew considerably through 2006 defying

         19  experts, are expected to decline in 2007 then show

         20  modest annual increases through 2010.  This

         21  component of our subsidies can no longer be counted

         22  on to generate the kind of revenue that it has

         23  afforded us.  It can no longer be counted on to mask

         24  a structural deficit within the MTA.

         25                 Delivering reliable, safe service
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          2  every day is a costly endeavor.  And you rarely hear

          3  calls for less service.  In fact, with all of the

          4  recent conversations in the region about anticipated

          5  growth by 2030 and the key role that transit plays

          6  in keeping a growing region mobile, we can expect

          7  calls for more and more service and new and

          8  different service, bigger and better service.  We

          9  share that vision, and our commitment to it is

         10  visible in our rail expansion projects, our planned

         11  bus rapid transit, and the new fleet with its clear

         12  announcements and electronic strip maps and high

         13  reliability.

         14                 MTA has spent years trying to

         15  maintain and expand its services while

         16  simultaneously keeping tight reins on costs.  As I

         17  said earlier, 60 percent of MTA's $10 billion budget

         18  is for expenses that we can and do control.  From

         19  2004 to 2010 these expenses are expected to grow by

         20  some 25 percent.  This growth does not include the

         21  costs associated with the private bus company since

         22  they were not fully assumed until February, 2006.

         23                 This 25 percent that I'm talking

         24  about largely reflects the growth in CPI, which

         25  alone would have accounted for 16.4 percent of the

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  increase.  Beyond CPI, as I mentioned to you in my

          3  opening, the MTA has had to respond to enormous

          4  increases in demand for reliable service.  In

          5  addition to service, the growth shown in the six

          6  year period is driven by security needs and

          7  maintenance of modern complex equipment.

          8                 The MTA firmly believes that

          9  significant changes in controllable costs can only

         10  be achieved by taking a hard look at the way we do

         11  business.  In his first six weeks, Lee Sander has

         12  already started a review of these issues.  He has

         13  been briefed on and will lead our endeavor for

         14  opportunities for shared services across the seven

         15  agencies.  The shared services model seeks to

         16  achieve savings by creating a business service

         17  center that handles all of the day- to- day human

         18  resource, payroll, and financial transactions

         19  currently performed seven times over by each of our

         20  agencies.

         21                 In addition, the Executive Director

         22  is taking a reasoned, thoughtful look at the

         23  potential value, both financial and operational, of

         24  merging the bus systems.  He has also launched a

         25  blue ribbon panel of construction industry leaders
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          2  partnering with MTA chief engineers and capital

          3  program staff to make sure we're using all of the

          4  best practices available to reduce our capital

          5  construction costs, and he is initiating an

          6  organizational assessment across the family of

          7  agencies with the primary goal of identifying

          8  opportunities and weaknesses.

          9                 But even with this aggressive agenda

         10  designed to identify ways to manage our business

         11  more efficiently and effectively, there is still a

         12  large fraction of costs that remain beyond the best

         13  efforts of any of us.  These uncontrollable costs,

         14  which currently consume 40 percent of our operating

         15  budget, are expected to grow by 96 percent between

         16  2004 and 2010.  That's correct.  They're expected to

         17  double.  Let's look at what makes up these costs.

         18                 First, almost on everyone's mind is

         19  debt service. Our years of reliance on bonds to fund

         20  investments in our infrastructure are catching up

         21  with us.  Debt service is expected to grow by more

         22  than 122 percent over the next six year period.

         23  While we can look to stem the growth in the future

         24  by committing to more pay as you go capital funding,

         25  that will not take care of the current problem.
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          2                 MTA is not alone in facing

          3  significant increases in health and welfare costs.

          4  A 71 percent increase between 2004 and 2010 and

          5  pension costs that are expected to grow by 72

          6  percent over that same period of time.  Energy costs

          7  and insurance are other costs beyond our control

          8  that are expected to see extraordinary increases as

          9  well, 80 percent and 180 percent, respectively from

         10  2004 through 2010.

         11                 And I would be remiss if I did not

         12  mention the costs of unfunded mandates.  In

         13  particular, the cost of Paratransit, which is an

         14  invaluable service for those with disabilities, but

         15  one that was added to the responsibilities of

         16  transit agencies without adequate funding.

         17  Paratransit costs are expected to grow by 164

         18  percent from 2004 to 2010, largely due to federal

         19  requirements for service.

         20                 So where does all of this leave us?

         21  It's anticipated in our current financial plan that

         22  the combination of flat revenues and increasing

         23  costs will deplete prior year cash balances and

         24  create future deficits.  We are forecast to end 2007

         25  with $270 million.  This will be used to reduce 2008

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  deficit to $799 million with deficits of $1.5

          3  billion looming in 2009 and $1.8 billion in 2010.

          4                 We all have our work cut out for us

          5  in crafting a path forward.  This process will begin

          6  in July when we update our four year financial plan,

          7  including a re- assessment of current revenues and

          8  spending.

          9                 Now I want to turn your attention to

         10  MTA's $21 billion 2005 through 2009 capital program

         11  and the challenges that lie ahead for us there.

         12  This program is the largest in MTA's history and the

         13  largest public transit investment program in the

         14  nation.  Over 75 percent of the investment is

         15  dedicated to the core program for each of MTA's

         16  operating agencies.  By core program, I mean the

         17  elements that customers see every day like rail

         18  cars, stations, bridges, as well as the vast network

         19  of invisible infrastructure that makes the system

         20  run, like pumps, fans, tracks, signals and power.

         21  This invisible infrastructure surpasses that of many

         22  cities.  New York City Transit's 301 pump rooms pump

         23  17 million gallons of water each day, more than the

         24  City of White Plains peak daily usage.  Similarly,

         25  the system's 524 power substations use enough power
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          2  annually to light the City of Buffalo.

          3                 As a small sampling of core

          4  investments, the program anticipates purchasing 959

          5  new subway cars, 299 commuter rail cars, 1,360 new

          6  buses, most of them our most environmentally sound

          7  hybrid electrics.  We will rehabilitate 44 transit

          8  stations and 35 rail stations, including completing

          9  work at the Atlantic Terminal and Jamaica Station.

         10  We will rehabilitate numerous pumps and signals.

         11  Taking care of the core does not only apply to

         12  transit.  We must keep our bridges and tunnels in

         13  good shape as well.  To that end, bridges and

         14  tunnels will rehabilitate and/or replace the decks

         15  on five of its bridges, the Bronx- Whitestone, the

         16  Henry Hudson, the Throgs Neck and Verrazano.

         17                 In addition to the enormity of the

         18  $16 billion investment in the core, the MTA also

         19  included $2.3 billion, including $900 million from

         20  the State's Transportation Bond Act, to move forward

         21  with the first major expansions of the system since

         22  the 1940's -- Second Avenue Subway and East Side

         23  Access.

         24                 Both of these projects promise to

         25  bring significant configuration relief in travel
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          2  time reduction to our customers. Both projects

          3  recently got a significant boost from the federal

          4  government.  Second Avenue Subway recently received

          5  an early systems work agreement, which allows this

          6  project to move forward with construction.  This is

          7  a precursor to a $1.3 billion full funding grant

          8  agreement expected by the end of 2007.  And East

          9  Side Access received a full funding grant agreement

         10  promising the project to receive a total of $2.6

         11  billion in federal funds.  The Board just approved

         12  adding a portion of these full funding grant

         13  agreement funds to the 2005 through '09 capital

         14  program to ensure that East Side Access can progress

         15  to the next phase.

         16                 The first major construction contract

         17  is about to be awarded for Second Avenue Subway to

         18  begin tunneling from 96th Street to 63rd Street for

         19  Phase I of its $3.8 billion project, which is

         20  expected to be completed by 2013.  Major tunneling

         21  work is already underway in Manhattan and Queens for

         22  the $6.3 billion East Side Access project, which

         23  will bring Long Island Railroad customers to Grand

         24  Station Terminal in 2013.

         25                 The Capital Construction Company will
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          2  also be building the $2.1 billion extension to the

          3  Number 7 line, funded by New York City, to

          4  facilitate the redevelopment of the west side of

          5  Manhattan.  We expect to award the first tunneling

          6  contract of this project sometime this year.

          7                 Work is well underway on the two

          8  federally funded lower Manhattan projects, South

          9  Ferry Station and Fulton Street Transit Center.  All

         10  contracts have been awarded for the $489 million

         11  South Ferry Station project, which is expected to be

         12  finished in August, 2008 and will reconstruct

         13  station whose track configuration had significantly

         14  limited operational flexibility and frustrated

         15  customers along the Number 1 line.  This project

         16  rivals all others in its complexity, lying below a

         17  spaghetti- like network of utilities and other

         18  underground infrastructure.

         19                 The final contract for the $888

         20  million Fulton Street Transit Center is expected to

         21  be awarded this year promising to rationalize the

         22  maze of connections to the 13 subway lines served by

         23  this station by 2009.

         24                 Finally, the MTA's capital

         25  construction company is leading the enormous
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          2  challenging effort to retrofit a 100 year old system

          3  to meet the security concerns of the 21st century.

          4  This runs the gamut from hardening infrastructure,

          5  such as bridges and tunnels, to implementing a

          6  system wide camera and emergency command structure

          7  to rethinking vulnerabilities in every aspect of our

          8  environment.  Funds from this and past capital

          9  programs support over $16 billion of work now

         10  underway.  Over the past five years the MTA has

         11  awarded an average of $3.4 billion in completed $3.1

         12  billion a year.  But to accomplish the work I just

         13  described, in 2007 the MTA plans to award over $4.1

         14  billion in core program investment and over $3.4

         15  billion for the East Side Access, Second Avenue

         16  Subway and Number 7 Lines.

         17                 So now that I've given you a flavor

         18  of the investments included within the capital

         19  program and the work ahead of us, I want to turn

         20  your attention to the challenges ahead, especially

         21  in terms of cost escalation and some of the volume

         22  of work being done in the region.  Recent press

         23  articles have pointed to the potential impact on the

         24  capital program from higher construction costs.

         25                 While we have seen some program
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          2  erosion due to cost escalation to date, it is not

          3  uniform across all our agencies or across all our

          4  projects.  Recent discussions with the City confirm

          5  that they are experiencing similar mixed results.

          6  The situation will become more complicated because

          7  of the enormous amount of work underway throughout

          8  the region between now and the end of 2009. This

          9  unprecedented volume of work increases concerns

         10  about the capacity of availability contractors and

         11  the availability of necessary trades.  The MTA is

         12  taking the issue very seriously.  As I mentioned

         13  earlier, the Executive Director has established a

         14  blue ribbon panel made up of construction industry

         15  experts to partner with chief engineers at our

         16  agencies to analyze the situation and make

         17  recommendations with the goal of minimizing erosion

         18  and maximizing the delivery of investments promised

         19  by our program.

         20                 So let me wrap up.  I've shared with

         21  you the tremendous progress as well as some of the

         22  enormous challenges ahead for the MTA and its

         23  financial plan and operating programs. Working

         24  together with our funding partners, including the

         25  City of New York, I'm sure we can meet these
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          2  challenges.  I and the other members of the panel

          3  are ready to answer any questions that you may have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          5  Lanigan for your very complete testimony.  I think

          6  you broke the record.  That was 23 minutes.  I feel

          7  especially bad that we took time from the beginning

          8  of this session, so I thank you very much.  I think

          9  the accomplishments that you point out on the part

         10  of the MTA and New York City Transit are to be

         11  commended.

         12                 I have a couple of questions on a

         13  couple of areas. Recognizing that there is a

         14  tremendous amount that your agency and your

         15  authority has already accomplished, and a lot of it

         16  has been very successful, so I want to congratulate

         17  you up front on that. Now, in December the MTA Board

         18  had approved a revision to the five year capital

         19  plan?

         20                 MR. LANIGAN:  That's correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Now, part of that,

         22  especially in light of the discussions taking place

         23  over this past week with regard to transit security,

         24  in December they had approved a change in the

         25  security budget, so that, whereas before, we were
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          2  counting on about half a billion dollars, $495

          3  million from federal funding for security

          4  enhancements in Phase II of the capital work.  All

          5  of a sudden, the MTA Board decided to borrow about

          6  $123 million, and use $18 million of MTA's cash to

          7  pay for those very same enhancements, so what

          8  happened there?  Because it hasn't been that long

          9  since the five year plan was adopted.

         10                 MR. LANIGAN:  Again, Councilman, Mr.

         11  Greg Kullberg is our Director of capital programs,

         12  so I'll be directing the capital questions to him,

         13  any transit specific questions to Mr. Chubak, and

         14  MTA bus questions to Mr. Del Sorbo.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         16                 MR. KULLBERG:  Mr. Chairman, the MTA

         17  will continue to aggressively and relentlessly

         18  pursue the federal funding it needs to execute its

         19  Phase II security program.  We do not believe, nor

         20  will we accept, as a foregone conclusion that the

         21  needed federal funds to take care of our security

         22  needs will not be forthcoming.  For every aviation

         23  customer, the federal government spends $7.50 for

         24  their security needs.  For every transit customer,

         25  they spend one and a half cents.  We believe that we
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          2  have a strong case to secure these funds that we

          3  will need to complete our Phase II security program,

          4  and we will continue to do that.

          5                 In the meantime, our security experts

          6  will analyze the progress of the program, and in

          7  those cases where we need to advance our own funds

          8  to ensure the critical projects will be done, it's

          9  the only responsible course for us to take.  This in

         10  no way indicates that we aren't going to continue to

         11  secure the money that we have assumed we would get

         12  for our federal security program.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So in other words,

         14  you're saying that, well, first of all, let me say

         15  that we're with you on this.

         16                 MR. KULLBERG:  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I mean, this is

         18  ridiculous for the federal government -- I don't

         19  think you got these numbers -- The five year capital

         20  plan anticipates that the entire $495 million for

         21  Phase II of the security enhancements will

         22  absolutely come from federal funding, and you didn't

         23  just make that up.  There was some sound basis for

         24  the MTA to include those federal funds as part of

         25  the five year capital plan.
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          2                 MR. KULLBERG:  That's correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  What kind of

          4  indications had you originally received from the

          5  federal government that the $495 million would be

          6  available for that purpose?

          7                 MR. KULLBERG:  Well, at the time we

          8  crafted the program, the DHS federal program was

          9  just in its inception, and the foundation for the

         10  $495 was based on preliminary discussions and

         11  assessment of what that program would produce.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  So a lot of

         13  this had to do with last year's comments and

         14  apparent change of heart on the part of Secretary

         15  Chertoff that they would be changing some of those

         16  funding formulas.  Is this a result of that?

         17                 MR. KULLBERG:  Yes, it's not only

         18  last year, but I think even more recently there's

         19  clearly a recognition, I think, at the federal level

         20  is that the larger cities deserve a larger share of

         21  the pie of federal funding for security.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, no, I mean

         23  the fact that the $495 million has not yet been made

         24  available, that none of it has been made available,

         25  that's not because of what you just said. What you
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          2  just said actually supports the fact that that money

          3  would have been made available.

          4                 MR. KULLBERG:  No, it's not correct

          5  to say none has been available.  We have an annual

          6  program that we are funding through the federal

          7  government for our security needs.  It's not coming

          8  in at the level that we think it should be, and, as

          9  I indicated earlier, we are going to push to have

         10  that level of funding ramped up significantly on an

         11  annual basis.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  That's true.  Well,

         13  look, let me just say this with regard to the

         14  federal funding.  I think that the funding that you

         15  speak about, we're talking about dribs and drabs

         16  that have been coming in.  They're like peanut

         17  amounts, a couple million here, a couple of million

         18  there, a few hundred thousand here, a few hundred

         19  thousand there.  So we're not talking about

         20  substantial amounts of funding that are really

         21  necessary from a capital perspective to harden the

         22  system.  That is not your fault. That is the federal

         23  government's fault.

         24                 The need to protect valuable yet

         25  vulnerable mass transportation assets, the need has
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          2  never been more critical than now.  And for the

          3  federal government to renege on earlier commitments,

          4  that is totally unacceptable and could be a disaster

          5  in the making because we've seen the experience in

          6  other major cities in other countries.  So that's a

          7  black eye on the federal government for not coming

          8  through with the funding that we together

          9  anticipated, and rightfully anticipated.

         10                 But there's also a problem from this

         11  Committee's perspective on what the MTA has done.

         12  And you may not have had any choice but to do it,

         13  but there's a substantial amount of additional

         14  borrowing to make up for the missing federal funds,

         15  so as much as you can say that, well, just because

         16  we borrowed the money, doesn't mean that we're no

         17  longer expecting those federal monies to come

         18  through.  The fact is that you've now financed a

         19  little more than a quarter of Phase II of the

         20  security enhancements.  The people who are then

         21  going to turn -- do you really expect that the

         22  federal government will now just come through and

         23  reimburse you for those expenses?  Is that a

         24  reasonable expectation?

         25                 MR. KULLBERG:  That is certainly not
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          2  out of the question, and it's one of the items that

          3  we will certainly pursue.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  In the past --

          5                 MR. KULLBERG:  We can do both.  We

          6  can pursue our rightful share of the federal money

          7  and still take the responsible course of action we

          8  need to take to advance those projects that have to

          9  be advanced.  It's not an either/or situation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes, but we're

         11  talking -- even Congress is a legislative body.

         12  They look at needs, needs that have not been paid

         13  for.  But when you go to them with a need that has

         14  been paid for, they look at it with a different set

         15  of eyes. In the past has the MTA had a general

         16  practice of fronting the money by borrowing money

         17  and then claiming reimbursement from the federal

         18  government later on?  Is that widely practiced?

         19                 MR. KULLBERG:  We have done processes

         20  like that, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Such as for what?

         22                 MR. KULLBERG:  Well, for a lot part

         23  of our capital program we'll advance and be

         24  reimbursed later from federal funds.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Can you give me one
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          2  significant example?

          3                 MR. KULLBERG:  Our federal program

          4  operates that way basically.  Listen, we're not

          5  anywhere near in the 9th inning of this ball game.

          6  We will continue to pursue the funds that we should

          7  get out of the federal government.  We will advance

          8  our own funds where the security concerns mandate

          9  that.  We have put into place a Phase I security

         10  program totaling $720 million, which is 78 percented

         11  away right now.  The MTA advances its own funds, not

         12  for heavy capital security, but for smaller

         13  initiatives totaling $100 million, which is about 80

         14  percent underway right now.  And this is not even

         15  counting the operating expenses that the MTA

         16  dedicates on a day to day basis to protecting this

         17  system.  So the $495 program needs to progress.  We

         18  need to fund it, but there's a tremendous amount of

         19  work that is underway and being successfully put in

         20  place as it is right now.  It's not the only story.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but actually

         22  it's the only example so far that we know of where

         23  such a significant amount of borrowing has taken

         24  place to make up for federal funds that haven't come

         25  through.
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN:  Councilman, while we

          3  agree with you, the need for the federal funds to

          4  come through, it would have been unconscionable on

          5  the part of the MTA not to advance security projects

          6  while we bickered over funding.  So a decision was

          7  made to prioritize the projects and to advance the

          8  critical projects that could and should advance.

          9  Now this was a difficult decision that had to be

         10  made within the MTA, and it wasn't something where

         11  people were racing to go out and borrow money and

         12  supplant federal money that we deserved.  There was

         13  an assumption made that the federal government would

         14  recognize the need in our capital program and come

         15  forward with some $495 million.  To the extent that

         16  they haven't done that, that does not alleviate us

         17  of our responsibility to proceed with projects.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but you just

         19  used the word assumption.  I mean, was it an

         20  assumption that the $495 million would just be

         21  available from the federal government?

         22                 MR. LANIGAN:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Because Mr.

         24  Kullberg had talked about what was taking place

         25  during the development of the five year capital
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          2  plan.  So is it assumptions or is it based on those

          3  discussions that had taken place?

          4                 MR. LANIGAN:  It's a combination

          5  both.  Those discussions lead to assumptions.  We

          6  never had a commitment from the federal government

          7  that said, we're going to fund $495 million of your

          8  Phase II capital programs.  Given the environment

          9  and New York City's need for federal security

         10  funding, it was a reasonable belief that the federal

         11  government would, in fact, come up with those funds.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, well, we're

         13  not going to rake anybody over the coals for

         14  expecting -- I mean, we would agree with you that we

         15  deserve those kinds of federal funds.  But on the

         16  other hand, when you're developing a capital plan,

         17  it really should be more solid in terms of where the

         18  money's actually coming from. So if there's anything

         19  we could do to help push for those federal funds to

         20  come through, that's fine.  We'd be happy to do

         21  that.

         22                 MR. LANIGAN:  I know the City and the

         23  Council has been very outspoken on the need for

         24  Transit to receive federal funding, and we thank you

         25  for that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And we assume that

          3  the entire $591 million in Phase I of the security

          4  program has been completely earmarked and about to

          5  either have gone to contract or already gone to

          6  contract.

          7                 MR. KULLBERG:  The Phase I security

          8  program which now totals $720 million is 78 percent

          9  underway.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  $720

         11  million, right? Because there were some cost

         12  overruns.

         13                 MR. KULLBERG:  There is some cost

         14  overruns, but the majority of it has to do with

         15  advancing work that was scheduled for later phases

         16  into an earlier phase to make a more complete

         17  project. That's about all the details I can give you

         18  on that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right.  So it's

         20  about $128 million more than Phase I originally was

         21  anticipated to be?

         22                 MR. KULLBERG:  Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And if my

         24  recollection is correct, a large chunk of that

         25  overrun was taken out of the billion dollar surplus

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  from last year?

          3                 MR. KULLBERG:  It came from the MTA

          4  operating funds, that is correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  By the way,

          6  it's amazing how sometimes you can use operating

          7  funds to pay for capital items. I thought you guys

          8  didn't like to do that.  That's just an aside.

          9  That's just a side comment.

         10                 So we're two years, a full two years

         11  into the five year capital plan.  And you talk about

         12  these costs that are beyond your control.  One of

         13  those big items, it's not just pension and health

         14  benefit costs, a huge item is that debt service.

         15  And that debt service is just going to pay off your

         16  loans.

         17                 So now this is something you are on

         18  the hook for because, of course, you have to go

         19  ahead and pay for those needed security

         20  enhancements.  The MTA was expecting the federal

         21  government to come up with those monies, but the

         22  federal government did not cough it up, and so now

         23  you went out and borrowed this money.  That $123

         24  million that was just borrowed or authorized to be

         25  borrowed by the MTA Board is going to result in at
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          2  least $10 million a year in extra costs, in extra

          3  debt service?  $10 to $15 million a year on debt

          4  service, so that's adding to that so- called costs

          5  beyond your control that you talk about when we have

          6  these ballooning deficits in the out years.

          7                 So does the MTA just have the

          8  authority to borrow such vast sums of money?  I

          9  mean, it wasn't too long ago where voters authorized

         10  the MTA to borrow $2.9 billion.  And so we

         11  authorized that, but no one actually authorized this

         12  specific $123 million borrowing.  Is that a

         13  negligible amount in your eyes? Where is this

         14  authorization?  Is there still room in the overall

         15  authorization that you don't have to go to voters

         16  for?

         17                 MR. LANIGAN:  It's certainly not a

         18  negligible amount.  Again, it was a matter of

         19  priorities, and within our funding caps we are

         20  required to go to our Board for approval, and we

         21  also are required to go to the State Oversight Court

         22  for our capital programs, not for our borrowing, but

         23  for approval about projects.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Sure.

         25                 MR. LANIGAN:  So the projects that
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          2  we're bringing forward have already been approved by

          3  the State Oversight Board, and our own Board has

          4  approved them.  Our Board has also approved a level

          5  of funding.  The funding that we're borrowing is a

          6  subset of that.  So it's a matter of priorities, not

          7  a matter of necessarily more than, and to the extent

          8  that it was a priority, this did trump any other

          9  projects that were out there at the time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So even though we

         11  expected the federal government to pay for this,

         12  they didn't come through with the money.  The MTA

         13  felt it was absolutely necessary to go ahead with

         14  this portion of Phase II of the security

         15  enhancements, and so you just went out and borrowed

         16  $123 million.  I mean, with the proper approvals, of

         17  course.  Let's not lose sight of the fact that at

         18  the end of the day, because of these ballooning

         19  deficits, and because of these continuing threats of

         20  fare increases, it's our constituents who are going

         21  to be footing the bill for this borrowing.

         22                 MR. LANIGAN:  Absolutely.  Absolutely

         23  correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So that's why we

         25  have to explore these issues, and this is why the

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  public has a right to know what exactly is being

          3  borrowed, and why is it that, number one, the

          4  federal government has not coughed up the money,

          5  but, number two, why is it that the MTA had

          6  originally expected the government to come up with

          7  the money and, in fact, is now transferring that

          8  burden onto the fare payers?

          9                 The other question that I would have

         10  for you then, and it's related to this, is that,

         11  well, let me start with this. Are there other

         12  sources or buckets, no, no, buckets is not a good

         13  word, pools or accounts of capital funds that are

         14  available that have not yet been used?

         15                 MR. KULLBERG:  No.  All the programs

         16  have booked all the allocated monies available with

         17  the one exception, as you're very well familiar, of

         18  the discontinued LaGuardia Airport access project,

         19  which has about $162 million left.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And I remember that

         21  because last year, and we supported you building the

         22  Metro North Station, it was just a little surprising

         23  to this Committee that the MTA has the ability to

         24  come up with $40 million out of thin air to pay for

         25  that station.
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          2                 So what are you going to do with that

          3  $162 million, Mr. Kullberg?

          4                 MR. KULLBERG:  $162 million, it's at

          5  the discretion of the MTA Board, and our State

          6  legislative review panel, which includes

          7  representatives of the City of New York to allocate

          8  those funds to the highest priority.  It's a very

          9  public and deliberative process.  If needs arise,

         10  those are presented to the Board, discussed and

         11  approved.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But I thought

         13  security enhancements were of the highest priority,

         14  so high a priority that you felt to go out there in

         15  the absence of the federal funds, to go out there

         16  and borrow that money.  Why couldn't you just take

         17  the $123 million from that remaining $162 million?

         18                 MR. KULLBERG:  That wasn't an option.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, what is the

         20  MTA keeping this money around for?  The MTA has this

         21  proverbial mattress that you're stashing $162

         22  million underneath.  Going out there to borrow money

         23  and expecting, ultimately, the fare payers to pay

         24  that debt service on money that didn't actually have

         25  to be borrowed.
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN:  Councilman, if I could

          3  just correct you on one minor.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Please, correct me,

          5  please.

          6                 MR. LANIGAN:  The money for the

          7  LaGuardia is not money.  That is an identified

          8  project.  If we were to substitute that for some

          9  other project, we would go out and borrow money.

         10  That is not cash waiting to be used.  That is

         11  borrowing authority waiting to be used.

         12                 MR. KULLBERG:  It's debt financed,

         13  just like --

         14                 MR. LANIGAN:  We would have to

         15  finance that the same as we would another project.

         16                 MR. KULLBERG:  Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Well, that's

         18  a fair and important correction.  But that still

         19  then is extending the authority's ability just to

         20  borrow.  I mean, on the one hand you're saying that

         21  the $162 million left over from the LaGuardia

         22  project, which has long since been abandoned, is

         23  available.  On the other hand, you're saying it's

         24  not available.  Which is it?

         25                 MR. LANIGAN:  It's available as
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          2  borrowing authority, so we have a level of projects,

          3  some $21 plus billion that are identified projects.

          4  We have not necessarily borrowed money yet for each

          5  of those.  As we progress, that's where the money

          6  begins being borrowed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So then what

          8  borrowing authority did the $123 million of

          9  borrowing for the security enhancements come from?

         10  Is there another existing -- maybe my question to

         11  you about pools or accounts of money was not the

         12  correct characterization because we're talking about

         13  capital.  Any time we're talking about capital

         14  funds, they're not actually money that's sitting

         15  around waiting to be used.  It's actually we're

         16  talking about borrowing authority, right?

         17                 MR. LANIGAN:  Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So why are these

         19  different pools or sources of capital funding

         20  existing when, for example, in the LaGuardia project

         21  that has long since been abandoned, why is that

         22  still sitting around, and why are we not tapping

         23  that to get the high priority security enhancements

         24  paid for?

         25                 MR. KULLBERG:  Again, the process of
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          2  allocating those funds has gone through a series of

          3  reviews.  All of those allocations have been

          4  deliberated at the MTA Board level, at the State

          5  level, and these are the decisions they made for the

          6  allocation of those funds.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I'll come back to

          8  that in a little bit, but let me turn it over to

          9  Council Member Mike McMahon for his questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman, and thank you for your continued great

         12  works on the transportation needs of all New

         13  Yorkers.

         14                 Gentlemen, I just have a few specific

         15  questions as to Staten Island.  You have a $21

         16  billion capital budget, and we don't want all of

         17  that in Staten Island.  We just a few little crumbs.

         18    Can you tell me the status of the third bus depot

         19  for funding and the construction schedule?

         20                 MR. DEL SORBO:  The Charleston Depot

         21  is expected to be awarded in this June, maybe July,

         22  I'm not sure.  It's one of those two months, June or

         23  July of this year with an expected completion date

         24  in 2009.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And it's
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          2  fully funded?

          3                 MR. DEL SORBO:  It's a funded project

          4  from the current capital program, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And what is

          6  the level of funding, do you know?

          7                 MR. DEL SORBO:  I don't know the

          8  exact dollar amount.

          9                 MR. KULLBERG:  About $110, I think is

         10  allocated in the program.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  About $110

         12  million?

         13                 MR. KULLBERG:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And the

         15  contract itself, it's awarded how, through an RFP

         16  process for the construction?

         17                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Yes, the bids are on

         18  the bids.  The specifications are on the street, and

         19  discussions will be ensuing with potential vendors,

         20  contractors.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And when you

         22  say June or July, is that like an end date for

         23  people to submit bids?

         24                 MR. DEL SORBO:  No, that would be the

         25  award date, when the decision is actually made who
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          2  it is that will do the construction.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I see.  So

          4  you're already talking to different people who are

          5  interested in bidding on it trying to clarify or

          6  narrow down the issues, and in June or July the

          7  actual contract will be awarded?

          8                 MR. DEL SORBO:  We will be talking to

          9  them, and I just checked, by the way, it's July.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  It's July.

         11  And so shovels will go into the ground?

         12                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Well, usually there's

         13  a mobilization period after the award date.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But the

         15  design is done?

         16                 MR. DEL SORBO:  The design is done.

         17  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  It's all

         19  designed.  Could you send me copies of the design

         20  plans?

         21                 MR. DEL SORBO:  We'll send you

         22  whatever we can put together.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  I

         24  appreciate that. The money that's in the budget for

         25  the purchase of new buses, how are those buses
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          2  allocated through the system, because the people on

          3  Staten Island, not the express buses now, but the

          4  regular route buses, that we always get second hand

          5  buses on Staten Island.  How can I allay the

          6  concerns of the people out there?

          7                 MR. DEL SORBO:  I don't believe that

          8  that's actually true.  In many cases, especially for

          9  the express buses, the over the road coaches are --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, not the

         11  express buses because I understand they're only used

         12  in limited routes, but the general population of

         13  buses.  There's a general consensus that all the

         14  buses that run Staten Island are already been used

         15  somewhere else.  I'm not accusing anyone of that.

         16  Far be it from me.  I would never engage in such

         17  inflammatory rhetoric, but I want to go back to my

         18  district and assure people that that's not the case.

         19  How can I ascertain that information?

         20                 MR. DEL SORBO:  The decisions on the

         21  bus allocation are actually made by the Department

         22  of Buses Management.  I'll have to check with them

         23  to see if they agree with your characterization.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Again, not

         25  mine.  I have to bring back the word on the street,
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          2  so you all hear it.

          3                 MR. DEL SORBO:  No, I understand.  I

          4  understand what you're saying, but we'll have to get

          5  back to you on that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  Thank

          7  you.  We'll follow up.  Thank you very much.

          8                 MR. DEL SORBO:  I also want to

          9  clarify one thing, which is that the Charleston

         10  Depot contract, it's actually not a standard design.

         11    It's a design built contract, which is to say that

         12  at this point we really have a preliminary design

         13  document. That's the one we'll try to get you, but a

         14  portion of the design is actually done by the final

         15  contractor.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But doesn't

         17  that add into the -- the reason I ask that is to try

         18  to get a handle on when it would actually be

         19  completed because a lot of construction contracts

         20  are in the design phase for a very long period of

         21  time.

         22                 MR. DEL SORBO:  The completion date

         23  is still scheduled for 2009, and we've had some good

         24  success actually using design built projects.  One

         25  example I remember is the Zurega (phonetic) shop in
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          2  the Bronx where that was used and worked out very

          3  well.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  Thank

          5  you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

          7  Member McMahon. We have questions from Council

          8  Member Reyna.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Good

         10  afternoon.  I just wanted to be quick and just ask a

         11  very simple question.  Your MWBE program at the MTA,

         12  who is the officer and is it in existence? Like,

         13  what is the budget allocated for that particular

         14  department?

         15                 MR. LANIGAN:  I don't have the budget

         16  allocated for that particular department with me,

         17  but I can get a hold of that for you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Are you

         19  familiar with the designated officer for the

         20  program?

         21                 MR. LANIGAN:  I can see his face, but

         22  I can't recall his name.  As a matter of fact, he

         23  came from the City Department of Finance.  Ken Neil.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Ken Neil?  And

         25  would you happen to know what's the personnel under
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          2  Ken Neil as the officer of the MWBE program?

          3                 MR. LANIGAN:  Again, at the budget

          4  and staffing we will give you the exact budget and

          5  staffing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I just wanted

          7  to point out, the reason I'm asking all of this is,

          8  within your testimony there are several projects

          9  that have begun, will begin contracting millions and

         10  millions and dollars.  There needs to be an emphasis

         11  on making sure that Kenneth Neil, as the officer of

         12  the MWBE, is going to be equipped with the proper

         13  personnel dedicated to making sure that MWBE does

         14  not shortfall.

         15                 MR. LANIGAN:  I can assure you that

         16  Ken is properly staffed for it, and that every

         17  contract that's brought before our MTA Board for

         18  approval has a designation about what's happening

         19  with MWBE on that particular contract.  So this is

         20  large contracts as well as smaller ones.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So for the

         22  executive Budget, I'd like to see within the

         23  testimony reference to the MWBE program, as far as

         24  the head counts, the budget and the percentages

         25  being met for the MWBE program in relation to the
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          2  contracts that have been awarded or will be awarded

          3  with the number seven expansion with the Second

          4  Avenue construction, whatever contracts there are

          5  out, how many contracts throughout the State of New

          6  York and in relation to the MWBE program.

          7                 MR. LANIGAN:  I think what might be

          8  helpful for you is that, again, Ken gives an overall

          9  to our Board at least once a year.  It might be

         10  twice a year, and in that overview he outlines the

         11  goals for the upcoming year, as well as the

         12  achievements for the prior year, so we can share

         13  that with you, what our MWBE goals are, as well as

         14  the achievements.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  It's important

         16  that we receive it for -- prior to would be great,

         17  but as part of the Executive Budget Hearing in May,

         18  it would be essential that we receive the comparison

         19  as to what progress we've made in the past and

         20  moving forward.  There's a lot of work in the MTA,

         21  and if there's going to be under Kenneth Neil a

         22  department as far as the MWBE program consists of

         23  just two people or five people, and the head count

         24  is not growing to meet the demand of the growth of

         25  contracts that will be designated, then we're going
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          2  to see a problem.  So I'd like to just advance this

          3  information to you, so that way it won't be a

          4  surprise during the Executive Budget season. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

          7  Member Reyna. Questions from Council Member Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

          9  very much.  I chair the Technology Committee and

         10  have been corresponding back and forth with your new

         11  Director, Lee Sander, about technology, so I have a

         12  couple of questions.

         13                 One is, is it part of the security

         14  plan perhaps in some way to have what I would call

         15  tap cards or smart cards, something so that, we love

         16  our Metro card, but it's not smart in the same way

         17  that the ones that I use to get in and out of the

         18  office are, just lean it up against the sensor, we

         19  get in the door.              So my question is,

         20  obviously, we've been talking about this in some of

         21  the community meetings because it would enable

         22  people to move in and out of buses faster.  One of

         23  my concerns is trying to make my district on the

         24  west side and citywide the buses to move more

         25  quickly, and I think you agree with that.  So I was
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          2  just wondering if any discussion, technology- wise

          3  on the cards, and staying with the topic that I know

          4  you have been wrestling with.  I think the L train

          5  now tells us when the next train is arriving, but in

          6  general, that's not true on buses or other trains.

          7  So I was just wondering technology- wise is this

          8  something that's budgeted, or how are you

          9  approaching some of these innovations?

         10                 MR. DEL SORBO:  With regard to Smart

         11  Card, we do have funds budgeted.  We are now doing a

         12  pilot project, as you know, on the Lexington Avenue

         13  line, and we're doing the results of that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  That's with

         15  Citibank, is that what it is?

         16                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         18                 MR. DEL SORBO:  That is correct.  And

         19  upon full receipt of those, of the information and

         20  analysis to see what it tells us, we could very well

         21  take a next step to pilot some kind of a bus, a

         22  Smart Card experiment.  That decision hasn't been

         23  made yet by any means.  We expect the decisions on

         24  that to roll out over the next year or so.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And is that a
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          2  costly item? In other words, is a budget allocated

          3  for the pilot, and then is there something that

          4  would roll out with different banks?  How would it

          5  roll out in terms of funding wise too, it's hard to

          6  say?

          7                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Well, there's a whole

          8  variety of options, commercial options for doing

          9  that, and I don't think any decision has been made

         10  how we would proceed with that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  And in

         12  terms of telling us when the next bus or subway is

         13  arriving?

         14                 MR. DEL SORBO:  You mean the

         15  Canarsie?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  We've just

         17  been waiting for buses.  It's not your fault, but

         18  other cities, you know when the bus is coming.

         19  Other places in the world you know when the bus is

         20  arriving.  You obviously need some fiber between the

         21  shelters, and you need to have buses and subways.

         22  Obviously, you're doing that in one line now, as I

         23  understand that.

         24                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Right.  There is a

         25  pilot program underway.  I believe Mike has some of
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          2  the details on that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.  But I

          4  want to know when it's going to happen system wide,

          5  or if there's any budget allocation for that.

          6                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Yes, there is a

          7  budget allocation for system wide implementation in

          8  2008.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  2008.  Okay,

         10  so that would be everywhere in 2008, bus and subway?

         11                 MR. DEL SORBO:  No, no.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I'm getting

         13  excited.  Go ahead.

         14                 MR. CHUBAK:  I don't want to

         15  unexcite, but on the Canarsie line, as you know, the

         16  signs have been installed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I've seen

         18  them.

         19                 MR. CHUBAK:  We're expecting that

         20  they will go live in the second quarter of this

         21  year.  On a portion of the subway system, that's the

         22  IRT, the numbered lines, not including the number 7,

         23  1 through 6, there is a contract PACIS is its name.

         24  That is in progress.  It has an expected completion

         25  date in 2009.
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          2                 On the bus side we are doing, as Greg

          3  alluded to, an AVL pilot, a pilot of a vehicle

          4  locator system that's currently in place, being

          5  installed, I should say, on buses at the 126th

          6  Street Depot.  If that's successful, then there is

          7  money in the program for expansion.  However, I

          8  don't believe there's enough money to expand the

          9  program to the entire system.  It's only about three

         10  or four depots worth of funding for the 2008 award.

         11                 I should also add that it's sort of a

         12  separate allocation.  There are different elements

         13  to this project.  You equip the buses with the sort

         14  of the transponders.  They communicate actually

         15  through the air to our control center, and then to

         16  equip the bus stops with little devices that would

         17  show this information is a separate matter.  I don't

         18  have the details as to how many of those units are

         19  actually funded.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  All right.

         21                 MR. CHUBAK:  But they're in the pilot

         22  or in the next phase.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Could we get

         24  that, Mr. Chairman, would that be possible?  Do you

         25  also have dark fiber in the subways that could be
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          2  used by other entities?  Is there any revenue here?

          3                 MR. CHUBAK:  We've talked about it in

          4  the past. We've never leased it out.  At this point

          5  we find ourselves using more and more of it for our

          6  own purposes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So you don't

          8  think that you will be leasing it out?  Because over

          9  the years there has been different discussions about

         10  this.

         11                 MR. CHUBAK:  I'm not familiar with

         12  anything currently in progress towards that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  In

         14  terms of some of the likelihood of peak and off-

         15  peak toll rates on some of your bridges and tunnels,

         16  is that something that's possible in 2008?

         17                 MR. LANIGAN:  We'll be beginning our

         18  2008 budget process, so to speak, in July, so there

         19  are a number of discussions.  Those have been talked

         20  about for years, and we will require some solutions

         21  to upcoming debts.  Nothing is off the table.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  And

         23  finally the cost of the BRT.  I know you mentioned,

         24  we're all very excited about the BRT program, and is

         25  that something that's going to roll out over time?
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          2  I think a couple of routes, maybe east side in the

          3  Bronx to start with, as I understand that.  So I

          4  just didn't know if there was a cost associated with

          5  that.

          6                 MR. CHUBAK:  We've identified five

          7  corridors, one in each borough.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I think I

          9  know them by heart.

         10                 MR. CHUBAK:  I won't tell you.  Two

         11  of those corridors will be selected for the roll

         12  out.  That decision has not yet been made.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  I knew

         14  it was two. I don't know where.

         15                 MR. CHUBAK:  The roll out will begin

         16  by the end of this year.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And is there

         18  a budget?

         19                 MR. KULLBERG:  There's $20 million

         20  that's allocated in the '05 and 09 program for our

         21  share.  The City obviously bears a share of this

         22  cost as well, as you know.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council
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          2  Member Brewer. Just a couple of follow ups and

          3  Council Member McMahon also has one follow up for

          4  you.

          5                 With regard to the security funding,

          6  I know you really don't like to hear that, Mr.

          7  Kullberg, but we really would appreciate an example,

          8  as you had stated there exists, an example when the

          9  MTA has just gone ahead, borrowed the money and

         10  fronted the capital expenditure in the absence or

         11  delay of federal funding that was expected for that

         12  very same work.

         13                 MR. KULLBERG:  I will get back to you

         14  on that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I would appreciate

         16  that.  Also, there really just doesn't seem any need

         17  for the $162 million left over from the LaGuardia

         18  project, which has long since been abandoned, to

         19  continue to stick around.  That's just a source of

         20  funding for pet projects that are not priority items

         21  on the MTA capital plan because, presumably, your

         22  five year plan has all the priorities already.  So

         23  to the extent that there are changes necessary, the

         24  MTA can make modifications here and there, but

         25  there's really no reason to leave $162 million out
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          2  there, especially when debt service continues to go

          3  up and we're facing large deficits in the out years.

          4                 Two questions, and then I'll defer to

          5  Council Member McMahon for his final question.  Does

          6  the MTA have any money left over for the purchase of

          7  new buses?  I'm sorry.  Let me correct myself.  Does

          8  the MTA have any more federal dollars left over

          9  reserved for the purchase of new buses?

         10                 MR. KULLBERG:  We do not use federal

         11  funds for purchasing buses.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right.  So then

         13  whatever happened to the -- originally it was $156

         14  million of federal funds that had been given to the

         15  City that then the City tried to transfer over to

         16  the MTA.  Then it became $140 million, and they were

         17  waiting for the MTA to take over the private bus

         18  companies, private bus franchises.  What happened to

         19  that money?  Did that money ever actually come

         20  through to the MTA, or is it still sitting in limbo

         21  land?

         22                 MR. KULLBERG:  The funds came to the

         23  MTA.  It was booked and it's been spent, releasing a

         24  like amount of local funds, which was transferred to

         25  the MTA bus company for the purchases of buses which
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          2  are largely complete.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  So the money

          4  did come through.

          5                 MR. KULLBERG:  Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  It was roughly $140

          7  million.

          8                 MR. KULLBERG:  In the neighborhood of

          9  that, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  And it's

         11  been totally spent, so there's nothing left over?

         12                 MR. KULLBERG:  That is correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right.  Now,

         14  does the MTA on regular basis get federal money for

         15  the purchase of buses?

         16                 MR. KULLBERG:  No, it does not.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Now, in the past,

         18  and this is a question actually that I am going to

         19  ask the DOT.  In the past the City of New York has

         20  received federal dollars on a regular basis for the

         21  purchase of public buses.  Now that the City does

         22  not any longer control or operate any City runned

         23  bus lines in the form of those private franchise bus

         24  lines, is the City no longer entitled to any of

         25  those federal dollars that are available exclusively
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          2  for the purchase of buses?

          3                 MR. KULLBERG:  You're correct in one

          4  point and incorrect on another.  The City is no

          5  longer entitled to the funds. Those funds will now

          6  come to the MTA, and they will be allocated for

          7  facility improvements for the MTA bus company, and

          8  the City will be providing match for those federal

          9  funds as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  So then in

         11  other words, this pool of federal transit

         12  administration money is not necessarily just for

         13  municipalities to buy buses, but could actually be

         14  used to improve, say like the bus depots, is that

         15  what you're saying?

         16                 MR. KULLBERG:  That is correct.  As

         17  it comes into us, it just comes in as straight 5307

         18  money, which is a category of federal money that we

         19  can allocate to any purpose.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So that means that

         21  the people of the City of New York are not missing

         22  out on any bus money that would have been available

         23  if the City had continued to operate those private

         24  franchises?

         25                 MR. KULLBERG:  Not one penny.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Not one penny that

          3  we're losing?

          4                 MR. KULLBERG:  Not one penny.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Thank you

          6  very much.  Then, my second final question was that

          7  in your testimony, Mr. Lanigan, are you suggesting

          8  that the MTA is going ahead with the 7 train

          9  extension even though there have been some questions

         10  about who's responsible for cost overruns?  Because

         11  I think you said the capital construction company

         12  will also be building the $2.1 billion extension to

         13  the number 7 line funded by the City of New York.

         14  We expect to award the first tunneling contract

         15  sometime this year.

         16                 MR. LANIGAN:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So that means the

         18  MTA is going ahead with building that extension?

         19                 MR. LANIGAN:  They're optimistic that

         20  the funding is going to come in at the budgeted

         21  amounts.  There are discussions, as I know you're

         22  aware, going on with our inter- governmental offices

         23  that will determine that if optimistically it does

         24  not, again we are optimistic that it will, but if it

         25  does not, our inter- governmental offices are still
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          2  discussing how we'll proceed with that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but you're

          4  saying you're expect to award the first tunneling

          5  contracts this year.

          6                 MR. LANIGAN:  That's correct, we do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, great.  Well,

          8  that's good news.  Hopefully, those loose ends will

          9  be tied up sometime soon. Thank you, and then our

         10  final question from Council Member McMahon.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman. Gentlemen, I know when I said we have

         13  the oldest buses, that was anecdotal from things

         14  that I hear, but regarding the rail cars on the

         15  Staten Island railway, I think it is factually

         16  correct that that is the oldest rolling stock of

         17  rail cars in the MTA system, is that correct?

         18                 MR. DEL SORBO:  I can only speak for

         19  subway cars. I don't know about the railroads, but

         20  within the Transit Authority the answer is, no, not

         21  quite.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Who has

         23  older, because those cars were put on the road when

         24  I was in high school.

         25                 MR. DEL SORBO:  They are from 1972,
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          2  but we have 1,600 cars actually that were bought in

          3  the 60's although I will say that they're going to

          4  be retired soon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Are they all

          6  captured in one system as the Staten Island

          7  Railroad, or are they spread out to different lines?

          8                 MR. DEL SORBO:  There are certain

          9  specific lines that run them on a regular basis.

         10  It's not a short list because it's 1,600 cars.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And what

         12  percentage of that is the overall stock of cars?

         13                 MR. DEL SORBO:  We have about 6,000.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So the cars

         15  on the Staten Island Rail are from 1972.  That would

         16  make them 35 years old.  We should have a party for

         17  them.  Are there any scheduled plans to replace

         18  them?

         19                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Right now there is

         20  money in the budget for 2008 to do, in effect, an

         21  upgrade of those cars to improve their condition and

         22  keep them running until the capital program would

         23  replace them.  It's not funded in the current

         24  capital program, and obviously it's too soon to say

         25  if it will be funded in the next, but if you assume
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          2  40 years, then that's sort of our standard useful

          3  life for subway cars, then that would be 2012.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  40 years?

          5  What percentage of the subway cars now are close to

          6  40 years old?

          7                 MR. DEL SORBO:  The oldest cars we

          8  have are the R32's.  We bought 600 of them in 1965,

          9  so they're already 42.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  They're over

         11  the hill.  Do the cars -- since they run outdoors,

         12  do they have greater wear and tear, the Staten

         13  Island rail cars?

         14                 MR. DEL SORBO:  There are differences

         15  of opinion on that.  Some people believe that the

         16  steel dust in the tunnels is actually worse for the

         17  cars, so there's nothing conclusive on that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  What's the

         19  amount on the refurbishment contract?

         20                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Right now I believe

         21  it's $7 or $8 million.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And what

         23  would that entail?

         24                 MR. DEL SORBO:  The scope of work is

         25  being worked on, there are two sample cars in effect
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          2  that have been -- I believe they're actually here

          3  already -- that are being shipped over to our car

          4  equipment department in Transit Authority.  They

          5  will do what's known as a teardown, essentially

          6  start tearing the car apart and evaluating various

          7  components.  From that, they'll develop a work scope

          8  for next year's activity.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So next year

         10  we'll have the scope of what the work will be on the

         11  cars?  Will they actually refurbish one as a model?

         12                 MR. DEL SORBO:  I don't think so.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  They'll just

         14  estimate what could be done.

         15                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Yeah, well, they'll

         16  come together with a scope of work, and that will

         17  include the number of labor hours required.  We

         18  anticipate doing the work in- house at this point.

         19  Labor hours required per car and the actual

         20  equipment that would be bought per car.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Could you

         22  make a determination that it's cheaper to replace

         23  them?  I mean, if you're taking them -- they're 35

         24  years old, so when they're 38, you're going to

         25  refurbish them.  You're not going to replace them
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          2  when they're 40.

          3                 MR. DEL SORBO:  The answer is, it's

          4  possible.  If it turns out that they're in

          5  horrendous shape and literally hundreds of thousands

          6  of dollars were required, then you might say it

          7  would be cheaper to replace.  However, there's no

          8  money in the program at the moment for doing that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The type of

         10  car that runs on Staten Island with the orange and

         11  yellow seats, are any of those cars running anywhere

         12  else in the City today?

         13                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Yes, they run on the

         14  A train.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  On the A

         16  train.

         17                 MR. DEL SORBO:  Essentially

         18  equivalent cars.  They were bought in the same

         19  contract.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  I

         21  would just urge you, again, they're in pretty bad

         22  shape, and whatever you can do to make the ride for

         23  the people who use that rail line more attractive,

         24  we would appreciate it.  Thank you very much.  Thank

         25  you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

          3  Member McMahon. Gentlemen, I beg your indulgence.

          4  We have one more question from Council Member James.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I apologize,

          6  but I couldn't allow you to get away without asking

          7  a question about Atlantic Yards, come on.  Atlantic

          8  Yards, is there any funds in the capital budget with

          9  respect to infrastructure improvements at the

         10  Atlantic Avenue Station?  Atlantic Terminal Station?

         11                 MR. KULLBERG:  The transit station?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.  To

         13  enlarge it, increase it, given the anticipated

         14  growth.

         15                 MR. KULLBERG:  The project was funded

         16  and was done in the last capital program.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But are there

         18  any funds to address -- let me go back.

         19                 MR. KULLBERG:  There was a huge

         20  enlargement of the underground space at the station.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But apparently

         22  in the Atlantic Yards project in the review by ESDC

         23  they anticipated that that station would have to be,

         24  the sidewalk would have to be improved, we would

         25  have to do something with the stairwell.  We would
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          2  have do a number of changes with respect to Atlantic

          3  Avenue Station to address that increase in

          4  population.

          5                 MR. KULLBERG:  You mean in

          6  combination with the development?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  With the

          8  project.

          9                 MR. KULLBERG:  I do not know the

         10  details of the development project.  I know

         11  negotiations are still underway regarding that, and

         12  I really don't.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But at this

         14  point in time, as far as you know, there is nothing

         15  in the MTA's capital budget with respect to --

         16                 MR. KULLBERG:  To do any additional

         17  work?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.

         19                 MR. KULLBERG:  Independently of that

         20  project?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yeah.

         22                 MR. KULLBERG:  No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.  And let

         24  me ask you, is in the five year capital plan of MTA,

         25  is there any funds in the budget to improve the
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          2  President Street Station on the two and the three,

          3  the IRT in Crown Heights?

          4                 MR. KULLBERG:  I'll have to get back

          5  to you on that. I don't know off the top of my head.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay, would

          7  you please?

          8                 MR. KULLBERG:  Yes, absolutely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         11  Member James. Once again, Mr. Lanigan, Mr. Kullberg,

         12  Mr. Chubak and Mr. Del Sorbo, thank you very much

         13  for your time today.

         14                 The Transportation Committee will

         15  proceed into testimony by the New York Department of

         16  Transportation.  We're proceeding with today's City

         17  Council Committee on Transportation's Hearing.  We

         18  are now going to hear testimony from the New York

         19  City Department of Transportation, and we're

         20  delighted to be joined by Commissioner Iris

         21  Weinshall.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I guess it's

         23  afternoon.  I'm Iris Weinshall, Commissioner of the

         24  New York City Department of Transportation, and with

         25  me here today is Judith Bergtraum, DOT's First
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          2  Deputy Commissioner and Conan Fraud, DOT's Deputy

          3  Commissioner for Administrative Services.

          4                 Thank you for providing me with this

          5  opportunity to discuss the DOT's budget and update

          6  you on our recent efforts.

          7                 DOT's capital plan for Fiscal Year

          8  2008 through 2017 is $8.9 billion.  We have an

          9  aggressive program for Fiscal Year 2008 that will

         10  include, among other projects, $133 million for the

         11  reconstruction of the 11th Avenue viaduct over the

         12  Long Island Railroad in Manhattan, $132 million for

         13  the reconstruction of the Belt Parkway Bridge over

         14  the Paerdegat Basin in Brooklyn, $118 million for

         15  in- house street resurfacing city- wide, $76 million

         16  for the reconstruction of the East 153rd Bridge at

         17  Park Avenue in the Bronx, $63 million to protect

         18  underwater pilings against marine borers, $40

         19  million for the rehabilitation of the Belt Parkway

         20  Bridge over Rockaway Parkway, $24 million for the

         21  modernization of signal systems City- wide, $20

         22  million for pedestrian safety improvements in Times

         23  Square and $15 million to replace street light

         24  luminaries City- wide.

         25                 This ten- year capital plan calls for
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          2  9,000 lane miles of street resurfacing, which will

          3  increase of the 14,500 lane

          4  miles from the previous plan.  Some of our new needs

          5  include maintenance and safety improvements for our

          6  Staten Island Ferry operations.  We also have funds

          7  to reconstruct the bus ramps at the St. George

          8  terminal, which is currently estimated to cost $179

          9  million.

         10                 Our expense budget for Fiscal Year

         11  2008 is $565 million.  This money will provide the

         12  resources to energize street lights in the City,

         13  operate the Staten Island Ferry, resurface and

         14  maintain the City's 6,000 miles of streets, maintain

         15  and clean the City's arterial highways, maintain,

         16  clean and paint the City's bridges, employ a staff

         17  of over 4,000 employees.

         18                 The January financial plan update

         19  includes some technical adjustments to cover funding

         20  for collective bargaining increases, environmental

         21  compliance needs, our street lighting contract and

         22  additional staff at our permit offices.

         23                 This past year we've also created a

         24  new office at DOT, the office of Strategic Planning

         25  to engage in the development of the City's long term
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          2  sustainability plan and to engage in other complex

          3  transportation planning initiatives.  As you all

          4  know, the long term sustainability plan is expected

          5  to include initiatives to reduce congestion, improve

          6  ferry and bus service, build out the bicycle master

          7  plan and construct new pedestrian plazas throughout

          8  the City.

          9                 In addition, the office is helping to

         10  implement the recommendations of the Staten Island

         11  Transportation Task Force, is addressing planning

         12  issues related to the redevelopment of lower

         13  Manhattan, and is managing the completion of our

         14  Truck Management Study.

         15                 As noted in testimony before this

         16  Committee last week, the BRT program is one of our

         17  initiatives aimed at encouraging a shift away from

         18  the personal automobile to other modes.  This

         19  program has now moved from the study phase to design

         20  and implementation.  The ultimate goal of this

         21  project is to extend the benefits of high quality

         22  public transit to additional neighborhoods

         23  throughout the City by improving the speed,

         24  reliability and attractiveness of bus service.

         25                 Over the past year we have prepared
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          2  concept plans for 15 potential BRT corridors, and

          3  following public review and our technical analysis,

          4  we selected these five corridors for BRT

          5  implementation:  Fordham Road, Pelham Parkway in the

          6  Bronx, Nostrand Avenue in Brooklyn, First and Second

          7  Avenue in Manhattan, Merrick Boulevard in Queens and

          8  Highland Boulevard in Staten Island.

          9                 We expect to be able to initiate BRT

         10  service on two of these corridors by the end of this

         11  year, and with the other three in place by the end

         12  of 2008.

         13                 We have also made tremendous progress

         14  this past year in promoting bicycling and bicycling

         15  safety.  Last September we announced a commitment to

         16  build 200 miles of new on- street bicycle facilities

         17  over the next three years.  These facilities, which

         18  will include vehicle- free bike paths, on- street

         19  striped lanes and signed routes will compose the

         20  backbone of the City's planned bicycle network.

         21                 DOT will install 40 miles in Fiscal

         22  Year 2007, 70 miles in 2008 and 90 miles in 2009.

         23  To accomplish this, DOT has been hiring additional

         24  staff and committing more funding for its bicycle

         25  and highway design divisions.  We have already
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          2  completed 28 miles of the new bike lanes and routes

          3  for this fiscal year.

          4                 In addition, we've installed more

          5  than a mile of shared lane signs, more than 250

          6  bicycle racks and will begin a pilot program of

          7  green colored lanes later this spring.

          8                 This past year we completed the first

          9  phase of another important safety initiative, our

         10  safe routes to school program.  As you know, this

         11  program is designed to protect our most vulnerable

         12  group of pedestrians, our children.  After reviewing

         13  traffic data from all 1,400 elementary and middle

         14  schools in the City, DOT and its consultants

         15  performed detailed studies on the 135 with the most

         16  severe accident histories.

         17                 In November we released comprehensive

         18  traffic safety reports for these 135 priority

         19  schools containing both short term and capital

         20  improvements, all of which can be found on DOT's

         21  website.

         22                 I am to happy to report that, to

         23  date, we've already completed over 80 percent of

         24  these improvements, including adding new signals and

         25  improving timing at existing ones, installing speed
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          2  reducers, adding more prominent signs to alert

          3  drivers of their proximity to the schools, adjusting

          4  parking regulations and adding school crosswalks.

          5                 As part of this effort, long term

          6  improvement projects involving capital construction

          7  will start initially at 32 of the schools with work

          8  scheduled to begin at several schools this summer.

          9  The safe routes to school program is one of our most

         10  important priorities at DOT, and we're making every

         11  effort to ensure that this project succeeds.

         12                 To complement our safe routes to

         13  schools program, we've also made available other

         14  educational material at DOT's website, including

         15  traffic safety maps for every elementary and middle

         16  school, a traffic control guide that helps students

         17  and parents understand the meaning of the signs and

         18  markings that they see every day and a traffic

         19  safety curriculum.

         20                 As these combined efforts make

         21  apparent, we're doing more than ever to ensure that

         22  our streets are safe for our children.

         23                 Safety for all street users also

         24  continues to be a paramount concern for DOT.

         25  Contrary to what some groups have been suggesting
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          2  lately, we in the Bloomberg Administration have done

          3  a lot and come a lot in enhancing safety for

          4  pedestrians over the years through safety,

          5  engineering, enforcement and education.  The numbers

          6  speak for themselves.  Traffic related deaths remain

          7  at their lowest level in nearly a century.  Since

          8  1990 fatalities have decreased dramatically by over

          9  55 percent.  From 701 in 1990 to 313 in 2006.  In

         10  addition, the number of pedestrian fatalities

         11  reached an all time low of 156 in both 2004 and

         12  2005.

         13                 Some of our safety initiatives

         14  implemented over the past year include on Staten

         15  Island a study was completed to improve traffic

         16  safety and operations on Highland Boulevard between

         17  Richmond and Steuben Street.

         18                 In addition to the street calming

         19  measures implemented on Gerritsen Avenue in Brooklyn

         20  last year, we are working with the community and

         21  local elected officials on the design of a green

         22  street treatment on the avenue leading to the

         23  construction of raised and landscaped center

         24  medians.

         25                 As part of our continuing program to
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          2  improve pedestrian and vehicle safety around the

          3  intermodel transit hubs, we implemented improvements

          4  at two locations under elevated subways tracks in

          5  Queens on 31st Street at 36th and 39th Avenues.

          6  These improvements included the installation of

          7  raised concrete refuge islands to protect waiting

          8  bus passengers, as well as the installation of gates

          9  to limit vehicles from accessing the lane between

         10  the sidewalk and the refuge island.

         11                 In Manhattan we implemented several

         12  improvements at the intersection of First Avenue at

         13  20th Street in response to pedestrian safety

         14  concerns from the community.

         15                 In the Bronx we initiated a pilot to

         16  study the installation of reduced speed limit signs

         17  around ten schools.

         18                 In Brooklyn we implemented traffic

         19  calming measures on Snyder Avenue where speeding was

         20  a problem.  This included the installation of stop

         21  word messages and bars, as well as the painting of a

         22  center median to effectively narrow the roadway with

         23  between East 35th and East 42nd Streets.

         24                 In Manhattan we implemented the Times

         25  Square shuffle in November by closing the vehicle
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          2  crossover between 7th Avenue and Broadway, which

          3  will allow us to increase pedestrian space by 15

          4  percent.

          5                 These initiatives demonstrate one of

          6  the fundamental transportation challenges in our

          7  City.  We have limited space for all of our sidewalk

          8  and roadway users.  So we need to continue to be

          9  creative in developing solutions to achieve a better

         10  balance, particularly to better protect pedestrians.

         11                 These safety projects are critical to

         12  improving the quality of life in our communities, as

         13  is the work coming out of our truck route management

         14  and community impact reduction study. The study has

         15  progressed substantially, and, in fact, we released

         16  the final draft of the study earlier this week.  It

         17  has taken longer than we initially expected, as we

         18  underestimated the length of time required for such

         19  a large undertaking, and because we expanded the

         20  scope of the study based on our initial findings, as

         21  well as feedback we received from communities and

         22  elected officials.

         23                 However, I'm happy to say that we

         24  didn't wait for the completion of the study and have

         25  already implemented a number of short term
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          2  recommendations including sign improvements,

          3  enhanced enforcement and improved outreach to

          4  stakeholders.

          5                 We finalized the 2007 City- wide

          6  truck route map and launched our new one stop

          7  website portal with truck and commercial vehicle

          8  information.  We're also launching a pilot program

          9  next week with four police precincts, the 43rd in

         10  the Bronx, the 90th in Brooklyn, the 110th and 113th

         11  in Queens, to make customized laminated placards

         12  with truck route information available to their

         13  officers.

         14                 Finally, we formally created the

         15  Office of Freight Mobility, which now serves as the

         16  primary conduit through education, enforcement and

         17  goods management issues are coordinated by DOT.

         18            As these efforts make clear, our focus at

         19  DOT is to provide for efficient, but most

         20  importantly, safe transportation. The transformation

         21  of our Staten Island Ferry operation is another

         22  example of this focus.  Organizational restructuring

         23  is now complete, and the management team is well

         24  staffed with maritime industry professionals.  Our

         25  safety management system successfully underwent its
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          2  first external audit since initial implementation.

          3  Our three new Molinari- class ferryboats are now in

          4  service.  The transformation of our two terminals is

          5  complete, and additional service has been added.

          6                 However, all of our efforts to

          7  provide a first class ferry operation do not come

          8  without an expense.  Costs have risen over the past

          9  few years attributable to these improvements, as

         10  well as for safety measures and post- 911 security

         11  and ever rising fuel costs.

         12                 Additionally, we have re- negotiated

         13  our agreement with the Ferry Terminal Management

         14  Group, FTMG, and with the help of the Economic

         15  Development Corporation, we're looking to bring a

         16  new and vibrant retail strategy to the terminals.

         17  We expect that the U.S. Post Office will be opening

         18  a branch at the St. George Terminal in mid- summer

         19  and other retail tenants soon thereafter.

         20                 We retired the ferryboat, American

         21  Legion, last summer when its certificate of

         22  inspection expired and will do likewise with the

         23  ferryboat, Governor Herbert H. Lehman, this summer

         24  when its certificate of inspection expires.  I am

         25  also happy to report that we are anticipating the
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          2  delivery of a new vessel later this month.  The

          3  funding for this vessel, which has also been named

          4  the American Legion, was provided to us by NASDAQ

          5  and will respond to public emergencies for the

          6  City's private ferry landings, the Staten Island

          7  Ferry, as well as security related functions in and

          8  around the ferry terminal facilities.

          9                 Over the past couple of years we've

         10  primarily focused on the operational aspects of the

         11  SMS and the improvements recommended to us by GMATS.

         12    During the past year, however, we have begun to

         13  focus on preventative maintenance for the ferryboats

         14  and the terminals.  We've added resources to our

         15  ferry maintenance staff and have gone online with a

         16  new preventative maintenance system, which has been

         17  vetted by both the American Bureau of Shipping as

         18  part of the SMS, and the Federal Transit

         19  Administration as a requirement for the federal

         20  funding we receive to build the new ferryboats and

         21  the terminals.

         22                 This is a complicated process, which

         23  will take time to fully implement, but in the end we

         24  will have a comprehensive system, which will promote

         25  preventative maintenance versus reactive maintenance
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          2  and to assist in better managing maintenance and

          3  related costs and improve operational reliability.

          4                 An integral part of our emphasis on

          5  public safety is also DOT's ongoing commitment to

          6  maintaining and improving the City's transportation

          7  infrastructure.  While the first weeks of winter

          8  were relatively mild, we expect many potholes to pop

          9  up over the next few weeks due to the freezing and

         10  thawing currently underway.  We have been working

         11  diligently nonetheless, and, to date, we have filled

         12  a little over 149,000 potholes this Fiscal Year.

         13  With the warmer weather just around the corner, we

         14  have begun preparatory work needed to resurface the

         15  streets most in need.

         16                 Additionally, last Fiscal Year 30

         17  percent funding increase for street re- surfacing,

         18  $20 million annually, has been made to meet DOT's

         19  baseline budget.  This action provides for an

         20  additional 200 lane miles of re- surfacing for an

         21  in- house total of 900 lane miles per year for each

         22  and every year moving forward.

         23                 Additionally, 311 continues to allow

         24  us to better respond to roadway defects and to

         25  coordinate with the Department of Environmental

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Protection ensuring that street conditions are

          3  handled by the proper agency.

          4                 Maintaining and rehabilitating the

          5  City's bridges, the most heavily utilized in the

          6  nation, also continues to be a priority for DOT.

          7  Now that our work on the East River bridges is

          8  almost completed and significant headway has been

          9  made on the reconstruction of the Harlem River

         10  bridges, including the completion of the McCoombs

         11  Dam and Third Avenue Bridge, as well as putting the

         12  Willis Avenue Bridge out to bid, we have begun to

         13  focus on another major bridge program, to

         14  reconstruct the seven waterway bridges on the Belt

         15  Parkway in Brooklyn and Queens, all of which are in

         16  need of reconstruction.

         17                 Some of our Bridge's Division's

         18  recent accomplishments include:

         19                 In the Bronx, the bridges over the

         20  Manhattan College Parkway.  In the Bronx, we also

         21  completed the component rehabilitation of the East

         22  173rd Street Bridge over Metro North. In Manhattan

         23  we completed the component rehabilitation of the

         24  Fort Tyron Place Bridge, which connects Fort Tyron

         25  Park and Riverside Park.
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          2                 In the Bronx and Manhattan the

          3  innovative float- in technique was successfully

          4  implemented to install the new swing span on the

          5  145th Street Bridge.

          6                 In Manhattan and Brooklyn contract 11

          7  on the Manhattan Bridge was significantly advanced.

          8                 In Manhattan the rehabilitation of

          9  the Battery Park underpass was successfully

         10  completed.

         11                 In Brooklyn 17th Avenue and Lincoln

         12  Road of the New York City Transit was substantially

         13  completed.

         14                 In Queens our component

         15  rehabilitation unit completed the demolition of the

         16  Cypress Hills Cemetery Bridges over the Jackie

         17  Robinson Parkway, and by the end of 2006

         18  approximately 90 percent of the Queensborough Bridge

         19  reconstruction work has been completed.

         20                 Over the course of the past year we

         21  continue to work on other initiatives.  With the

         22  launch of our street furniture franchise initiative,

         23  we're expecting an increase in revenue.  Last May we

         24  finalized a 20- year franchise agreement with Cemusa

         25  to install 3,500 new bus shelters, 330 newsstands
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          2  and 20 public toilets throughout the five boroughs.

          3  Under the terms of the agreement Cemusa will build,

          4  install and maintain the new structures and will pay

          5  the City of New York $1 billion in cash over the

          6  term of the agreement.

          7                 Additionally, the City will receive

          8  $400 million in in kind advertising services.

          9  Cemusa also committed in doing at least 50 percent

         10  of the manufacturing in New York City bringing jobs

         11  to their headquarters in Manhattan and to their

         12  production sites in Queens and the Bronx.  Not only

         13  will this new franchise transform the look and feel

         14  of the City's streets by creating an aesthetically

         15  pleasing street scape, but it will also do so

         16  without the burden of public investment.  By the end

         17  of 2006 50 new bus stop shelters were installed with

         18  ten in each borough.  The remaining structures will

         19  be completed over the next five years.

         20                 Last year we also advanced the paid

         21  commercial parking program by installing an

         22  additional 276 muni meters in midtown Manhattan,

         23  which regulate 1,900 parking spaces.  We've

         24  installed 122 muni meters and removed over 800

         25  single meters as part of the community based muni
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          2  meter conversion program in various locations in the

          3  Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens and Staten Island.

          4                 As you may recall, in November of

          5   '05, we introduced the use of major credit cards as

          6  an additional payment option at 200 muni meters in

          7  the theatre district.  Given the success of this

          8  pilot project, over 22 percent of all payments at

          9  these machines were by credit card.  We've expanded

         10  this past year by upgrading over 300 additional

         11  machines in this area to accept electronic cash.

         12                 Lastly, on all new on- street

         13  community based conversions also included the credit

         14  card capability, and this year we will provide the

         15  credit card option at all 163 muni meters located in

         16  the City's 37 parking fields.

         17                 In conclusion, I am enormously proud

         18  of DOT's accomplishments in all of the areas of our

         19  responsibility and the contributions we're making to

         20  help the City meet its current challenges.  As many

         21  of you know, after nearly seven years, I will be

         22  leaving the agency next month to embark on a new

         23  chapter in my career.

         24                 So I'd like to take this opportunity

         25  to say that it has certainly been a pleasure
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          2  appearing before you through the years.  While many

          3  times we have agreed to disagree, we did work

          4  collaboratively on negotiating and enacting

          5  important legislation to benefit all New Yorkers,

          6  from the regulation of news racks to transferring

          7  sidewalk responsibility to property owners, to

          8  requiring annual inspections of electrical

          9  structures, to enhancing accessibility and providing

         10  additional service to the Staten Island Ferry.

         11                 In closing, I would like to thank the

         12  Committee for all their hard work and a special

         13  thank you to Chairman Liu for his leadership over

         14  the years.  I wish you all much success.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.  I think New Yorkers are also grateful

         17  to you for sticking around for seven years.  That's

         18  a substantially long period to serve as Commissioner

         19  of any agency, no less the Department of

         20  Transportation, which is such a vital and key

         21  agency, so thank you very much for everything that

         22  you have done for New York.  We do have a few

         23  parting questions for you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I didn't

         25  think I'd get away scott free.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think you'll have

          3  some very clear answers to them.  We talked about

          4  this subject a little bit with the folks from the

          5  MTA just before, which is the federal funds that are

          6  available for the purchase of buses.  In the past

          7  the City has always gotten these funds on a regular

          8  basis, so now that we're not actually running buses

          9  any longer through the private franchise companies,

         10  are we no longer getting money that would generally

         11  be available to municipalities such as New York?  Or

         12  is there another mechanism that we're getting that

         13  money through?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  The FTA

         15  money you talked about it's from the Federal Transit

         16  Administration.  We got it basically in two

         17  categories.  One, you're right, we got it for our

         18  private bus operation.  And, of course, as you know,

         19  we're not running the private bus operation, but we

         20  also get FTA money for the Staten Island Ferry, and

         21  we continue to get that.  We still get that money.

         22  But since we're not running a bus program, those

         23  funds, I assume, have gone over to the MTA and is

         24  part of their big pot of money that they get from

         25  the FTA.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

          3  Traditionally, the MTA has not accepted federal

          4  money for the purpose of buying buses.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  It has to do

          6  with procurement issues, I believe.  Maybe you know

          7  better.

          8                 MR. FREUD:  My understanding is that

          9  the MTA would know much better what their answer

         10  was, but I think they were trying to work some

         11  arrangement out where they could put the money on

         12  something that was more appropriate for them than

         13  use other money to buy the buses.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but what are

         15  you saying, that if they're not using the money to

         16  buy the buses, where's the money going then?  Or is

         17  it actually -- has the flow of the money stopped?

         18                 MR. FREUD:  No, no.  The flow of the

         19  money hasn't stopped, but they could use it to build

         20  a bus garage.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  The FTA

         23  money, they don't just get FTA money for buses or

         24  subway cars.  They use FTA money for other

         25  operations, and I think what Conan is saying is they
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          2  would shift that money to other operations and then

          3  use their MTA money to buy buses.  So, in a sense,

          4  their appropriation would go up, it's just how they

          5  would apportion the money would be different.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, the people of

          7  New York City, whether it be through DOT or through

          8  the MTA, the people are not losing any?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  No.  We're

         10  not losing.

         11                 MR. FREUD:  The money comes to the

         12  City, whether it's the MTA or the DOT based on the

         13  ridership of the bus system.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         15                 MR. FREUD:  So since the ridership

         16  hasn't changed, it's just going up or going down,

         17  whatever, the ridership hasn't changed.  The money

         18  is just being sort of put in one bucket instead of

         19  another bucket.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Great.  I've

         21  got two more questions then I have a couple of

         22  colleagues who have questions.

         23  Last year in the same budget discussions we talked

         24  about some budget allocations for inspecting

         25  retaining walls, and obviously that's come up lately
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          2  although it was a State DOT -- it was under the

          3  State DOT's jurisdiction, and they claimed that it

          4  was not the actual wall itself but just the facade

          5  of the wall.  But nonetheless, how are we doing on

          6  the retaining wall inspection program?

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Well, let me

          8  just talk about that particular incident, I mean as

          9  a result of what happened at the Henry Hudson

         10  Parkway, as you know, we and the state did a

         11  complete survey of all the retaining walls from the

         12  City of New York, and we have a pretty vibrant

         13  inventory, so when that incident happened, it was

         14  last Friday, we were able to ascertain pretty

         15  quickly that it wasn't our retaining wall and that

         16  it belonged to the state.

         17                 You're right.  The entire retaining

         18  wall didn't come down.  The surface of the retaining

         19  wall was basically pushed down by a lot of water and

         20  leaves that were coming from an upper roadway.

         21  Evidently, there was a park up there as well.  So

         22  the responsibility for the entire retaining wall

         23  program lies with DDC.

         24                 MS. BERGMAN:  The monitoring  of the

         25  retaining walls whether it's DOT, the State, or
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          2  Parks is monitored by the Department of Buildings.

          3  The way our system works at DOT, we do the

          4  inspection.  If we need any kind of maintenance,

          5  repairs or whatever, we go to DDC.  I think DDC now

          6  is in the process of designing two, from our survey

          7   -- looking at two retaining walls to basically make

          8  repairs.  So we have an active program.  We inspect

          9  them, and we'll make the repairs as is needed.  It

         10  starts with us, goes to DDC.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  My final

         12  question is on the list of major capital projects, I

         13  know this is for FY '08, is there an item, either

         14  for FY '08 or possibly the following fiscal year,

         15  for the Roosevelt Avenue, the reconstruction of the

         16  Roosevelt Avenue Bridge in Queens?

         17                 MR. FREUD:  I think it's '09.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  It's in '09?

         19                 MR. FREUD:  I believe it's in '09.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Do you

         21  remember how much that might be?

         22                 MR. FREUD:  $40 or $50 million.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  About $40 or

         24  $50 million, that I remember.

         25                 MR. FREUD:  Yeah.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, great.

          3  Thank you.  Questions from Council Member James.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Commissioner,

          5  I wish you much success and it's been an honor and a

          6  privilege to work with you.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  With respect

          9  to the Office of Strategic Planning, is there any

         10  effort as far as you know to have the Office of

         11  Strategic Planning work with the community with

         12  respect to Atlantic Yards?

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  The Office

         14  of Strategic Planning is, as you know, working a lot

         15  in downtown Brooklyn.  We have a lot of initiatives

         16  down there.  That office is working with Dan

         17  Doctoroff's office and City Planning on all the

         18  rezoning that has gone on in downtown Brooklyn.

         19                 Clearly we're working with the Ratner

         20  Organization in terms of their traffic and

         21  transportation plan.  As you know, they are moving

         22  ahead and will start to deconstruct some of the

         23  bridges that go over those rail lines.  So both the

         24  Office of Strategic Planning but, more importantly,

         25  Ryan Russo and his group as well as OCMC, which is
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          2  the group within DOT that sort of looks at all of

          3  the traffic patterns and during construction, how do

          4  we deal with the changes that have been made.  Those

          5  two groups will really be more prominently working

          6  with Atlantic Yards and the Ratner Organization in

          7  this next phase of Atlantic Yards.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And it's

          9  wonderful that we have all these great minds

         10  focusing on it, but the one missing link is the

         11  community.  What is the role of the community, and

         12  can the community play a role in the planning for

         13  this?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Clearly, any

         15  changes that we're going to make, vis- a- vis

         16  traffic patterns, will go before the community

         17  boards.  We have not finalized what we're doing now

         18  with the deconstruction of the bridges in terms of

         19  the traffic patterns that we'll be creating.  That

         20  will happening imminently, and, as you read in the

         21  local paper, we have lots of ideas for Brownstone

         22  Brooklyn and for Fort Green.

         23                 Clearly, we would go to the community

         24  boards with all of those ideas and try and get some

         25  type of consensus from the community.  In addition,
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          2  I know that the borough Commissioners and, in

          3  particular, Joe Polmeri (phonetic), who is the

          4  Borough Commissioner for Brooklyn, has been working

          5  with this community constantly.  So this is

          6  something that we do have a lot of community input,

          7  and, as I said, any major changes that we would

          8  make, we would clearly go to the community board to

          9  try and get consensus.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I know that

         11  there is a community meeting at the community board

         12  next week, community board six specifically about

         13  the proposal to turn Sixth Avenue and Seventh Avenue

         14  into one ways, which some have argued will turn it

         15  into a speedway for Atlantic Yards.  You will hear

         16  from the community --

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I'm glad you

         18  said that cause I want to make a couple of points.

         19  I live in that community.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes, you do.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I just want

         22  to say --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Your neighbors

         24  will be out in force.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I just want
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          2  to say two things.  The changes that we're

          3  recommending for Sixth and Seventh Avenue had been

          4  in the planning stages before Atlantic Yards.  It

          5  really has nothing to do with mobility around

          6  Atlantic Yards. Sixth Avenue in that part of

          7  Brooklyn, as you know, is extremely narrow.  It is

          8  very difficult to get down that street when there is

          9  a Fresh Direct, or a Fed Ex truck or a UPS truck

         10  double parked.  It probably never should have been

         11  made a two- way street.

         12                 We always like, at DOT, the traffic

         13  engineers always like to have streets that are

         14  paired in one- way directions.  As you know Prospect

         15  Park West goes one way.  Eighth Avenue goes another

         16  way.  So I know there are a lot of people in the

         17  community who think that we did this in reaction to

         18  Atlantic Yards.  Let me state from the outset that

         19  this has been something that has been on the books

         20  and we've been thinking about for awhile.

         21                 The second point is that if the

         22  community is opposed and has valid reasons to be

         23  opposed, we're not going to go ahead with it.  We

         24  are going to listen to what the community has to

         25  say. We have in the past in other communities, and
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          2  in the Chairman's borough where we have wanted to

          3  turn certain neighborhoods, like Jackson Heights

          4  we've wanted a -- and in Flushing where we've wanted

          5  to turn streets one- way, and the community has

          6  opposed it, we have not done that.

          7                 So clearly we're going to hear what

          8  the community has to say, and what I would ask

          9  Council Member is that the community listen to what

         10  we have to say as well.  We are not going to ram

         11  this down anybody's throat.  We're trying to make

         12  this a more rational, easy system.

         13                 The other piece of it is, we're

         14  trying to make some improvements on Fourth Avenue.

         15  As you know, when you go along Fourth Avenue, it is

         16  very difficult to make turns because there isn't

         17  enough capacity to hold the cars that need to make

         18  either the left or the right hand turns off of

         19  Fourth Avenue.

         20                 So the third piece of this plan is to

         21  be able to change the geometry of Fourth Avenue to

         22  add capacity so that people can get in and out of

         23  their communities a little easier.

         24                 So we will be going to the community

         25  board and discussing all these issues.  But, again,
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          2  if the community is opposed I would hope that they

          3  would listen to us and not just see Atlantic Yards,

          4  but they would see that this is a project that

          5  stands on its own, separate and apart from Atlantic

          6  Yards.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Moving onto

          8  another subject, tomorrow I plan on attending a

          9  Cheret, which is sponsored by GapCo, the Grand Army

         10  Plaza Coalition, which are your neighbors to the

         11  northeast.  I'm not sure.  So there is a Cheret in

         12  the morning, and we're going to do a walking tour of

         13  Grand Army Plaza and do a traffic calming study.  As

         14  far as you know, has anyone ever reviewed Grand Army

         15  Plaza in relation to traffic calming?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  As a matter

         17  of fact, we have spent a lot of time on Grand Army

         18  Plaza.  We have met twice with the Parks Department

         19  because, as you know, a key partner for DOT in Grand

         20  Army Plaza is the Parks Department because you have

         21  the Park, which is right around Grand Army Plaza

         22  then you have the Center Island, which has the

         23  memorial for John Kennedy as well as it has the

         24  other various items.

         25                 We met with the Parks Department
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          2  twice.  We have a plan, which we believe will

          3  further calm Grand Army Plaza.  A number of years

          4  ago, long before I got to DOT, a number of changes

          5  were made, and we have even more suggestions to make

          6  to calm Grand Army Plaza.  They have been shared

          7  with the Parks Department, as well as the advocates

          8  in that community.  I would be curious as to what

          9  there reaction is to some of the changes that we

         10  would like to make.

         11                 Part of our plan would take part of

         12  that center island and give back part of the roadway

         13  to the Parks Department. So we have lots of

         14  different ideas which, as I said, we've shared with

         15  the Prospect Park Alliance, we've shared with Adrian

         16  Benepe, and so their very much aware of the fact

         17  that we have other options available.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  That's an

         19  excellent segue because I don't know the status, and

         20  I have to call Tupper Thomas (phonetic) with regards

         21  to the renovation of Eastern Parkway --

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Eastern

         23  Parkway.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Plaza

         25  Washington.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Well, if you

          3  would like, I'll give an update.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Sure, okay.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  As you know,

          6  Parks and DOT were very eager to begin construction

          7  immediately.  Because we are doing work in the

          8  roadway, some DEP issues have emerged.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  If the

         11  street is going to be open now, it's DEP's hope to

         12  be able to do some work in conjunction.  We would

         13  hate to do the project and then five years later

         14  have DEP come in and dig up the street again.  So it

         15  has been delayed a little bit because now DEP has to

         16  do their engineering. So once the street is open,

         17  we'll do it all as one comprehensive program.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         19  Moving further up the road, Eastern Parkway and

         20  Utica, I believe that is number one in terms of, if

         21  I'm not mistaken, in terms of fatalities, pedestrian

         22  fatalities.  What measured have we done thus far

         23  with respect to traffic calming at Utica and Eastern

         24  Parkway?

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Let me just
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          2  say, I'm not sure if it is the highest one.  It

          3  probably is --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  It's on the

          5  list.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  It may be

          7  among the highest

          8  ones.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Top ten.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  As you know,

         11  it's a very challenging intersection because the

         12  subway is there, and people are always rushing to

         13  get to the subway at Utica Avenue.  We have worked

         14  in terms of putting up, as you know, pedestrian

         15  fences along there to deter people from crossing

         16  Eastern Parkway but going to the corner to be able

         17  to do whatever of their moves that they have to do.

         18  I don't want to say.  I'll tell you privately, but

         19  there's some other mechanism at Eastern Parkway that

         20  many of your constituents have gotten caught by.

         21  I'll just leave it at that.

         22                 We have worked on the signal timing

         23  on Eastern and Utica, so there are a number of

         24  things that we have done.  But we think the most

         25  effective means has really been the pedestrian
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          2  fencing that we put up along there to basically stop

          3  people from crossing into the roadway to try and get

          4  to either side of Utica Avenue.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Going back to

          6  Atlantic Avenue and to some cases maybe perhaps

          7  Flatbush, I get some complaints from senior citizens

          8  because, particularly on Atlantic Avenue their's two

          9  senior residences, and some of the seniors have

         10  asked to recalibrate the lights.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  On Atlantic

         12  or Flatbush?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  On Atlantic,

         14  in particular, because they can't make it across

         15  from one side to the other without it changing.  I

         16  know it's a challenge because Atlantic Avenue is a

         17  major, major corridor.

         18                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But there is

         20   --

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  We'll be

         22  happy to have our folks go out there and take a

         23  look.  Sometimes if we can, we will try and add a

         24  little more green time, but, as you know, Atlantic

         25  Avenue is an enormous challenge to us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Sure, but

          3  they're not synchronized, I noticed.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Okay.  It

          5  could be that they've fallen off line.  Sometimes we

          6  do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Council

          8  member James we could come back let me just go

          9  around the rest of the Committee. Council Member

         10  McMahon.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman. Commissioner, is this the last

         13  testimony?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I hope so.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Wait a second, I

         16  thought we were working on some grand finale.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  We may have

         18  one more hearing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So this is

         20  the prelude to the farewell.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Prelude to

         22  the kiss.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Prelude to

         24  the kiss.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I don't know
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          2  if it's going to be a kiss.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I, again,

          4  echo the sentiments I said at the last hearing that

          5  you certainly will be missed, and in doing traffic

          6  and transportation in a city of how many millions of

          7  people and with neglected infrastructure, it's

          8  certainly a challenge, and you've done a great job.

          9                 Some of the issues that you testified

         10  about I'd like to speak to.  I'd like to start with

         11  the ferry, if we could.  You know, there's been a

         12  lot of -- despite everything that's happened over

         13  the last few years, without question it's a

         14  different ferry now than it was when you first took

         15  office and thereafter when we took office.  It's

         16  gone from a really sort of a mom and pop operation

         17  to a professional ferry system with professional

         18  management.  I see Captain Jim D. Simone there, and

         19  the professionalism that he's brought, together with

         20  your initiative on GMAT's has made it a real ferry

         21  system, and we're very grateful for that.  But, as

         22  always, I have to say but.  I was just kidding

         23  because I did that at the last hearing.

         24                 The report that came out from IBO

         25  that spoke to, it was not surprise because we all
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          2  knew the numbers were there, spoke about almost a

          3  doubling in the cost of the ferries, and as I said

          4  at the time, so be it, and the Mayor, I think,

          5  echoed those sentiments very well that this is what

          6  you have to have.  If you're going to run ferries,

          7  you have do it right, and this is what the people of

          8  Staten Island deserve.

          9                 Do you foresee any funding issues or

         10  cost issues with the ferry moving forward, or have

         11  we sort of plateaued out on the cost?  Are we not

         12  undertaking any initiatives to reinstate the fares

         13  or anything like that?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Let me just

         15  say that there's a couple of variables that went

         16  into why the costs went up. You know, this is a

         17  post- 911 year that we're living in.  Many of the

         18  security measures are mandated now by the Coast

         19  Guard.  We have no choice.  So you see officers with

         20  dogs.  You see increased security.  So post- 911,

         21  when the Coast Guard says you have to do it, you

         22  have to do it.  If not, they shut you down.

         23  Although gas prices are low today, we've all lived

         24  through the last few years before where fuel costs

         25  were quite high.  We were not immune to that, so it
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          2  cost us more like it cost everybody else more.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I actually

          4  it's going up again.  Gas is at three dollars again.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I think

          6  you're right.  So it will go again.  The third point

          7  is that, as you know, we have three new beautiful

          8  Molinari class ferry boats, and those boats have

          9  higher manning levels than the previous boats had.

         10  So we had to add additional staff to be able to man

         11  those boats.  Again, the manning levels are mandated

         12  by the U.S. Coast Guard.  We have no choice.  If you

         13  don't man it with the number of people they tell

         14  you, they say you can't run the boat.  Well, we're

         15  not going to do that.

         16                 The last point is that the ferry

         17  terminals themselves are beautiful, state- of- art,

         18  but they require a lot more cleaning.  There's a lot

         19  more glass, and so that was an increased cost as

         20  well.  I believe other than if fuel costs begin to

         21  rise again, you've pretty much seen -- or God

         22  forbid, there is another terrorist incident and

         23  security concerns go up again, and the Coast Guard

         24  comes out with new mandates, I think for the

         25  foreseeable future you've seen basically what the
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          2  costs will be.  I mean, could they go up a little

          3  bit, here or there, yeah, but I think overall you've

          4  seen pretty much what the baseline will be unless

          5  something unforeseeable happens.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I think

          7  you're absolutely right.  Even when I saw the title

          8  of the report, the increase in service that occurred

          9  over the last year and a half was really less than

         10  10 percent of the overall increase in costs, so it's

         11  not just running the extra service.  It's all those

         12  things that you pointed to, security, and additional

         13  procedures, but the GMAT's hosted together I think

         14  were almost half of the increase in operating it, so

         15  I agree with you, and I would even submit that even

         16  a further slight increase in service sometime down

         17  the road probably wouldn't even break the bank, but

         18  I'm sure I'll bring that up with your successor.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  This

         20  Administration has no intention of reinstalling the

         21  fare on Staten Island.  I know that your colleague

         22  thinks that tourists should have to pay, but, you

         23  know, we can't quite figure out how we distinguish

         24  tourists from the regular Joe getting on the ferry.

         25  That's sort of a challenging endeavor that we don't
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          2  know have an answer to.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Sure, no, I

          4  understand that.  Would using Metro cards be

          5  possible there, or does the MTA use Metro cards in

          6  any non- MTA facilities that we know of?

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I guess we

          9  should really bring that up with them.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  No, I think

         11  you should probably bring that up with them.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The one

         13  thought is, if you're swiping your MTA card anywhere

         14  else on your trip, you go on the ferry for free, or

         15  if you could have a Staten Island residence MTA

         16  card, I guess that would be Metro part.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  If they

         18  would issue that. I mean, one suggestion someone

         19  gave us, which we don't even know how we would

         20  implement it, it's mind boggling, is just like when

         21  you go to a museum, there's a recommended donation?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Donation?

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  But I think,

         24  I don't know, maybe people on Staten Island would

         25  take offense to that, you know.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Do you think

          3  Council Member Oddo would throw the money in the box

          4  when he went through?

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  No, he looks

          6  like a very generous fellow to me, I think he would.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I don't

          8  know.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  He's got

         10  shifty eyes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I think he

         12  has a generous heart, but when the check comes for

         13  lunch, I don't know if the heart connects with the

         14  movements of the hand.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Maybe on

         16  your next trip across on the ferry with him, maybe

         17  you'll want to have brunch with him.  See if he buys

         18  you a hot dog.  I'm told they're among the best hot

         19  dogs in the City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I've tried

         21  that, and I haven't been successful.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Oh, okay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Regarding

         24  that, and the purchase of hot dogs and the retail

         25  space, in your testimony, moving right to hot dogs,
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          2  if you will.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  My favorite

          4  food.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Maybe I

          6  misunderstood a week or two ago, but I think you

          7  said we have renegotiated our agreement with the

          8  ferry terminal management group.  I thought you

          9  ended the relationship with them?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  We did going

         11  forward, but remember, there are a number of stores,

         12  although as small as they are, that need to stay in

         13  place.  We don't want those stores to go out of

         14  business because then no one could buy a newspaper

         15  or cup of coffee.

         16                 So we basically had to create an

         17  agreement so that FTMG could still operate those

         18  functions, but that they would lose the ability to

         19  develop any new business in the terminal, so that's

         20  the point I'm making today, that FTMP will still be

         21  operating those few stores that are there, but going

         22  forward working with EDC we're hoping to attract a

         23  different calibre of vendor, of master lessee who

         24  can come in and really both give the people of

         25  Staten Island and the thousands of tourists who come
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          2  through that terminal every day, the level of

          3  services that we really think that they deserve.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  What type of

          5  time frame do you see on that?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  What?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  What type of

          8  time frame do you see on that?  Forget the stores

          9  that are in place.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  EDC is

         11  hiring somebody who's been working with us, who is

         12  going to be the retail consultant, who is basically

         13  going to come up with the strategy that either us,

         14  or I would prefer EDC, would go out and bid.  To be

         15  honest with you, Councilman, we're not in the retail

         16  business.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Sure.

         18                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I think I

         19  said that you when we sat down and talked a little

         20  while ago.  I feel uncomfortable with the agency

         21  really initiating and managing the retail end and

         22  would prefer to see experts in the field do that.

         23  Likewise, I wouldn't want someone to come in who

         24  wasn't an expert telling me how to fill a pothole.

         25  I'm not going to tell somebody how to do retail
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          2  work.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I

          4  understand.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  That's why

          6  we're relying on EVC and this consultant that

          7  they're hiring, that's her expertise. She'll come up

          8  with a strategy of plan, and then either DOT, which

          9  I would prefer it not be, or EDC will go out with

         10  requested proposals from probably one master lessee.

         11                 Let me just make other point.  FTMG

         12  also is responsible for the food on the boats, and

         13  that's why we couldn't get rid of them.  As you

         14  know, that's a high yielding operation. People like

         15  to get their morning coffee, their bagel, and if we

         16  put FTMG out of business, there would be no services

         17  whatsoever for the folks of Staten Island.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And what's

         19  the duration of their current master lease?

         20                 MR. FREUD:  The boat lease will

         21  continue for another 17 years.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And the

         23  store leases that they'll continue with?  The

         24  terminal leases?

         25                 MR. FREUD:  For at least two years.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Is this

          3  going to now be spearheaded by someone at EDC?  In

          4  other words, who do I follow up with as time moves

          5  on?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  You can

          7  still follow up with us because it's a joint effort

          8  between the EDC, but the lead person at EDC is Kate

          9  Ascher and her group.  It's her group that's

         10  developing the Battery Maritime building, and she

         11  does all the stuff on the water.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So she'd be

         13  the one to talk to about the Weinshall connection

         14  between --

         15                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Yes.  I

         16  thought we called it the McMahon Family Bridge.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, no, it's

         18  the Weinshall.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I keep

         20  meeting all your -- everywhere.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  It's your

         22  idea.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I found out

         24  also there are seven of them this week.  I'm amazed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So am I.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  You are too.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  On the new

          4  American Legion, which is a great choice of name, by

          5  the way, I commend on that, how big is that going to

          6  be, that boat?

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  It's not a

          8  very big boat. As a matter of fact, Capital DeSimone

          9  can captain that boat, I'm told.  I think it would

         10  take about six or eight people.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So it's sort

         12  of, just an emergency vessel, if you will.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  And, by the

         14  way, we should all be thankful to the employees of

         15  NASDAQ.  They raised the money, and after 911

         16  presented that check to the New York City DOT.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  That's

         18  wonderful.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Well, they

         20  were very appreciative of the work that the ferries

         21  did on the day of the --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Moving

         23  everybody.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Yeah, of

         25  moving everybody, and in some way wanted to
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          2  memorialize that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Great.  We

          4  will do that. We'll make sure that Ms. Hart will

          5  take that back to the Mayor as well.

          6                 The reconstruction of the ramps on

          7  the Staten Island side, again, when we first heard

          8  the number of the construction, you recall, I kept

          9  saying, are you sure you don't mean $17.9 million?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  No, it's

         11  $179 million.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Could you

         13  just give us again a little bit of the scope and

         14  time frame on that?

         15                 MR. FREUD:  The project is about

         16  seven bridges, and that's why it's not $17 million.

         17  It's basically -- I think it's almost a mile of

         18  bridges that has to be reconstructed.  The project

         19  is currently scheduled in Fiscal Year 11, but we're

         20  sort of re looking at that schedule, and it may be

         21  advanced.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Yeah,

         23  because I thought we had moved the funding up into

         24   '08, so when you say 11, you mean the fiscal?

         25                 MR. FREUD:  Fiscal Year 11, right.
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          2  It was advanced, and we looked at again, and we had

          3  to push it back, and now we're looking at a lot of

          4  projects.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So where is

          6  it now?

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  It's

          8  officially in 2011, but we are looking to see if we

          9  can advance it, as you know, under the capital

         10  process that we go through.  Projects slip and then

         11  some projects get advanced.  We just made a decision

         12  to take the Willis Avenue Bridge out of our capital

         13  plan for this year.  We just opened the bids this

         14  week, and we're not going to go ahead to be able to

         15  award that contract this year.

         16                 So when you go three years like that,

         17  everything starts to slip a little bit, and so other

         18  stuff that we may be able to try to do this year, we

         19  will, which will ease up money later on. So we're

         20  looking at the Staten Island project to see if we

         21  can push it up, and to make sure that all the

         22  engineering work is done, so that we can start the

         23  construction in 2011.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Right.  I'm

         25  just a little disappointed, because you had
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          2  announced that we had moved it from 2011 up to 2008.

          3    That was an announcement, I think the last --

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  But I think

          5  that DOT, like other infrastructure agencies, went

          6  through a process where we were too high in our five

          7  year plan, and we had to go through a process of

          8  bringing that number down.  So this was one of those

          9  projects that slipped.  It didn't go out of the five

         10  years.  It just slipped a couple of years.

         11                 Again, we're trying to move it back

         12  in.  We're trying to get it done.  I know that the

         13  borough president has put a lot of capital money in,

         14  and he has requested also that we try and see if we

         15  can push it back.  We probably won't be able to push

         16  it back 2008.  My guess is probably 2009 would be

         17  the most realistic year that we could do it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  When was it

         19  decided to move it back out of 2008?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  When we did

         21  the budget exercise where we had to go through the

         22  five years and take how much money out of our --

         23                 MR. FREUD:  $800 million, I think.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  We had to

         25  take $800 million out of -- not out, but we had to
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          2  push out $800 million of the capital program.  So

          3  this was one of those projects that slipped a couple

          4  of years and had to be pushed forward.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Council

          6  Member, McMahon.  I'd just like to interrupt and ask

          7  the Commissioner in regards to that project that

          8  you're referring to as far as the ramps are

          9  concerned, if it's a projection that the costs would

         10  be $179 million pushing out to 2011 even higher.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, that's

         12  the 2011 number.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  That's the

         14  2011 number, so we don't foresee a $205 million

         15  projection?

         16                 MR. FREUD:  We hope not, but, again,

         17  we haven't taken a bid on the project yet, so it's

         18  still in sort of conceptual design phase.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         20  That's a great point.  Again, I thought even at the

         21  last hearing it was 2008, so I'm a little surprised

         22  and certainly crestfallen, so if you guys could go

         23  back and look at that.  Does the Borough President

         24  know that it got moved back out again?

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Yes, he

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  does.  And that's when he asked us, could we look at

          3  moving it back into 2009.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Can you

          5  believe it?  I'm at a loss for words.  The truck

          6  routes, and the pilots.  Four pilots went out, a

          7  fifth on the North Shore of Staten Island with the

          8  routing cards for the police officers.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Well, to be

         10  honest with you, the precincts that we chose had the

         11  highest number of truck traffic, and they also have

         12  facilities in them which generate a lot of truck

         13  traffic.  That's why we chose these particular

         14  precincts.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But I can't

         16  imagine New York container terminal and the salt

         17  factory depot that we have that distributes and the

         18  transfer stations in the North Shore of Staten

         19  Island, they've got to be in those numbers.  I mean,

         20  Halinoc (phonetic) alone was with more trucks than

         21   --

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I guess the

         23  bottom line for us we couldn't pick every area, and

         24  we could only work the police department in a

         25  limited number, and these were the highest incidents
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          2  and the highest numbers that warranted trying the

          3  pilot out.  We're pretty confident the pilot will

          4  work and then the program will go citywide.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Again, I

          6  would just urge you to add Staten Island to that

          7  list.  It seems kind of blatantly missing, not

          8  blatantly, but glaring -- whatever, it's obviously

          9  Staten Island should be in that list.

         10                 Lastly, the safe routes for the

         11  schools, what's the next step on that?  How do we

         12  get to the next phase?

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Well,

         14  actually, we're going to start to look at the next

         15  135 schools, and the group is now working to

         16  identify the next group of 135, so whatever input

         17  you would like to give us, we would love to sit down

         18  and get your input.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  In accepting

         20  recommendations now for schools for the next round?

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Well, we did

         22  the whole study of the 1,400 schools, and we're

         23  going to look at the next 135 which have high

         24  accident rates.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Are they
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          2  posted on the web?

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  If not,

          4  we'll get you the list, and you can take a look at

          5  it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

          7  madam, acting chairwoman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Thank you,

          9  Council Member, McMahon.  Commissioner, I'd just

         10  like to relate Council Member Chair Liu's apologies

         11  for having to leave in the middle of your question

         12  and answer panel.  I will be continuing the

         13  Committee's chairing of this portion, and so I'd

         14  like to just have a point of clarification.

         15                 Within our capital projections, the

         16  ramps, the bridges that you had referred to costing

         17  $179 million is actually being projected in our

         18  numbers from the preliminary budget response from

         19  the Mayor as $205 million, so that's the reason why

         20  we were asking.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  We have it

         22  listed as $179. We'll check with OMB.  I don't know

         23  why they would have that number in there.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Fantastic.  And

         25  before I go to Council Member James, who had that
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          2  second round, I had wanted to just ask the update of

          3  the Flushing Avenue reconstruction, which was not

          4  mentioned in your testimony, considering that that's

          5  a particular project that has been undergoing in the

          6  last, I would say three years.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I don't know

          8  anything about it, but we'll get you an answer.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  I know that south

         10  of Broadway has been completed.  North of Cypress

         11  going into Queens has been completed.  Everything in

         12  between, which is my portion of the district has not

         13  been.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I believe

         15  Conan just told me it's a DDC project.  They must be

         16  doing water mains and street work, but I will talk

         17  to David Burney (phonetic) and get an update why

         18  that portion has not been completed.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  And I ask because

         20  the resurfacing of the street is primarily going to

         21  be something I'm assuming DOT oversees.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  No, no.  The

         23  contractor who's doing the entire project would do

         24  the resurfacing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  I see.  One of
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          2  the questions that was left behind as far as Council

          3  Member Liu's chair of this Committee has not been

          4  asked, it's the outstanding revenue collection.

          5                 Each fiscal year the Department of

          6  Transportation receives a combination of federal and

          7  state revenues that include federal ISTA and the

          8  state chips grants.  As of February of 2007, the

          9  Department had a total of $17.3 million from Fiscal

         10  Year '06 that had still not been collected.  Of that

         11  amount, $5.3 million is still unbilled.  So we'd

         12  like to find out whether your Department or OMB has

         13  been able to collect these funds, and when do you

         14  expect the revenues will be collected?

         15                 MR. FREUD:  Most of that money has

         16  been collected to date.  I think $4.8 of the $5.3

         17  has been collected.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  $4.8?

         19                 MR. FREUD:  Of the $5.3 has been

         20  collected and there's still about a half million

         21  dollars left, which we expect to clear before the

         22  end of the year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  End of fiscal

         24  year or calendar year?

         25                 MR. FREUD:  Fiscal year.  A lot of
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          2  these are timing issues.  We may put in a receivable

          3  in, then the actual expenditures haven't incurred.

          4  We can't claim the money until the expenditures

          5  actually incur, so there's sort of ordinary timing

          6  delays that happen.  There's nothing we can do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  And besides the

          8  Fiscal Year '06 uncollected amounts, are there any

          9  more uncollected balances due to prior years?

         10                 MR. FREUD:  Not that I'm aware of,

         11  but I can go back and check.  I wouldn't be totally

         12  surprised, but I don't think there's anything that's

         13  significant.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  You would never

         15  move into another fiscal year with an unbilled or a

         16  balance?

         17                 MR. FREUD:  You might.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  You could?

         19                 MR. FREUD:  You might, depends on

         20  what the grant was for.  We may have put a

         21  receivable on the books anticipating a certain

         22  amount of expenditures.  In reality, the expenditure

         23  just doesn't happen.  So therefore we would have a

         24  receivable.  We have a expenditure, eventually

         25  you'll write to down.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  If you can just

          3  communicate back to the Committee on the prior years

          4  of any outstanding balances?

          5                 MR. FREUD:  Certainly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  That would be

          7  great.  Council Member James?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Back to

          9  Atlantic Yards.  The EDC President testified on

         10  Monday that there was $205, allegedly, I believe

         11  it's more, $205 million in capital funds dedicated

         12  to Atlantic Yards, $100 million divided among

         13  several agencies, including but not limited to DOT.

         14  Do you know how much is in your capital budget

         15  dedicated to Atlantic Yards?

         16                 MR. FREUD:  I had none.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay, you can

         18  get back to me and we'd appreciate it.

         19                 MR. FREUD:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Commissioner,

         21  we've had several discussions in downtown Brooklyn

         22  about residential parking permits.  Your

         23  recommendations, you sort of poo pooed it, but --

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Well, I

         25  wouldn't say poo pooed it.  As you know, we had a
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          2  consultant do a study and we really took the

          3  consultant's recommendations very seriously.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So the

          5  consultant poo pooed it?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  The

          7  consultant did not feel that it was going to give us

          8  the desired benefits that we were seeking in

          9  downtown Brooklyn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But you did

         11  open the door to the possibility of looking at our

         12  residential parking permits for Prospect Heights as

         13  it relates to Atlantic Yards?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Yes, what we

         15  did say is that what the consultant said is that

         16  when you have neighborhoods next to event driven

         17  venues that that sometimes makes better sense. So,

         18  yes, we did say at the point that the Nets Stadium,

         19  or I forgot what it's being called now, Barkley

         20  Stadium opens up, or is about to open up, that makes

         21  sense to then look at a residential parking program

         22  for that neighborhood just adjacent to the stadium,

         23  yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And now that

         25  you are departing, will that policy continue with
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          2  your?

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I cannot

          4  speak for whoever is going to be here, but if you

          5  want to give me a call when I leave, I'll reiterate

          6  my point.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Well, I hope

          8  it's an agency position as opposed to your personal.

          9    This way it stays with the agency.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  It's my

         11  view, but I'm sure there will be a lot of other

         12  people here who aren't leaving with me, and I think

         13  that they feel likewise about event driven

         14  residential parking programs make sense.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.  I

         16  want to thank you for the resurfacing, and I believe

         17  it's the reconstruction of Gold Street, Navy Street,

         18  Tillery, which is close to the residents of Farragut

         19  public housing which, as you know, are always

         20  ignored, and so I really want to thank you.

         21                 I want to talk a little bit about the

         22  truck management study and whether or not it takes

         23  into account the concerns of community board two,

         24  particularly the residents of Wallabout (phonetic),

         25  near the BQE.  Do you know if that community,
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          2  Community Board Two --

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Probably

          4  David Wallick (phonetic), who's our truck expert.

          5  Maybe he could answer some of those answers.  He's

          6  here.

          7                 MR. WALLICK:  I know we did receive

          8  feedback through a number of different channels from

          9  Community Board Two, and there are a number of

         10  locations in the district that are reflected in the

         11  truck study.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  If we can

         13  defer those conversations because not only were the

         14  concerns from Community Board Two, but some civic

         15  associations including Walabout (phonetic)

         16  association, Fort Green Association, Clinton Hill

         17  and a number of block associations in Community

         18  Board Two.  The amount of truck traffic as it

         19  relates to the BQE going to the Brooklyn Bridge

         20  and/or Manhattan Bridge, I would really ask that you

         21  consider that and incorporate those concerns in your

         22  study.

         23                 MR. WALLICK:  Sure, and the final

         24  study has been released, but one of the key

         25  recommendations is that the kind of work we did as
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          2  part of the study needs to continue in an ongoing

          3  basis, so as the Commissioner talked about her

          4  testimony, we now have the office of free mobility,

          5  and one of the things that we'd like to work with

          6  you on, as well as your colleagues, is to continue

          7  the kind of dialogue that we had during the truck

          8  study, so we can work with you to perhaps set up a

          9  meeting with some of these groups and talk about the

         10  issues further.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         12  Madam Chair, my last point is the reconstructing and

         13  the resurfacing of certain streets.  In Community

         14  Board Eight if you could look into the

         15  reconstruction of Lincoln Place between Schenectedy

         16  and Utica, the resurfacing of Dean Street between

         17  Carlton and Vanderbilt, and the resurfacing of Park

         18  Place from Washington to New York.  Those are some

         19  of the recommendations of Community Board Eight,

         20  which are located in the 35th Council District.

         21                 In Community Board Nine, just as

         22  we're looking at the reconstruction of Flat Bush

         23  Avenue to beautify it and make it more appealing as

         24  the entre into Brooklyn, I would hope that we would

         25  also look into Empire.  I know that it's in your
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          2  ten- year plan, and I would hope that we consider it

          3  advancing it.  Empire is attracting a lot of

          4  traffic.  It is in Crown Heights and, again, I would

          5  like to beautify Empire Boulevard, and I would hope

          6  that we would focus as much attention on Empire as

          7  we are doing on Flat Bush Avenue.

          8                 Again, in Community Board Nine,

          9  Nostrand Avenue from Eastern Parkway to Clossen, and

         10  my last point in Community Board Nine, is do you

         11  know something about an archeological dig at Clove

         12  Road?

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Clove Road?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Clove Road in

         15  Crown Heights.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  All the

         17  archeological digs are usually handled by Landmarks.

         18    Maybe you want to ask the Landmarks Commissioner.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  They tell me

         20  it's DOT, and they said that your response was that

         21  the funds were not available, see Tish, and so, do

         22  you know anything?

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I know

         24  nothing about it, but we can check for you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And also, I
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          2  believe the reconstruction of that same road and

          3  Malbone (phonetic) Street in Community Board Nine is

          4  in the ten- year plan, but they tell me that the

          5  Clove Road dates back to the American Revolution.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Probably

          7  does.  There were a lot of battles fought around

          8  there.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So I really

         10  need to look into doing, I think I'm going to put

         11  some funds in the budget, and would like to talk to

         12  you further about studying the historical

         13  significance of Clove Road.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Usually,

         15  again, you may also want to touch base with Bob

         16  Tierney, and we will too, but when you get to a

         17  point where it's an archeological dig, a capital

         18  construction project shuts down, and then Landmark

         19  steps in.  So you may want to check with Bob Tierney

         20  as well, but we will as well.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you,

         22  Commissioner, and I bid you adieu, and I wish you

         23  well, and I look forward to seeing you at the Green

         24  Market.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Thanks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Commissioner,

          3  thank you so much to your staff as well, and we look

          4  forward to your final statements.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  The next panel

          7  we'll be calling up.  This is the public portion of

          8  the Hearing.  Dr. Fred Monderson, Kay Dunham, Joseph

          9  Garber, and Mr. X.  There's only three members of

         10  the public, so I'm assuming that the fourth has

         11  already left.  We apologize for the delay.  As you

         12  can see, there are important questions that we must

         13  ask, and we don't get to it all, so if you would

         14  like to begin, Mr. Monderson?

         15                 DR. MONDERSON:  Good afternoon.  My

         16  name is Dr. Frederick Monderson.  I'm the Chair of

         17  Transportation Committee in Community Board Eight.

         18  First of all, let me say that I'm here to salute

         19  Council Woman James for the outstanding work she is

         20  doing as my representative.  I want to thank her for

         21  rendering assistance in co- naming of such streets

         22  as Brooklyn Avenue for Charles Innis (phonetic) and

         23  Anne Marie Blinn and Ocean Avenue for James E.

         24  Davis, Washington Avenue for Mary Pinkett.  These

         25  two latter are both between Atlantic Avenue and
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          2  Easton Parkway in Brooklyn.

          3                 I would like to remind her to

          4  complete the task for the Fireman's Corner at

          5  Washington and St. John's and at Lendublin's

          6  (phonetic) Way on Lincoln Place between Washington

          7  and Underhill Avenues.

          8                 Secondly, I would like to say that

          9  regarding the decal MTA tower, as you're very well

         10  aware, this tower was involved in the Franklin

         11  Avenue shuttle September 7, 2005 derailment, and

         12  again on August 16, 2006 train fire on the Manhattan

         13  Bridge.  We requested information from MTA.  They

         14  gave us the official version, which I didn't think

         15  was satisfactory, and they denied our request for a

         16  walk through in the summer of 2006 because of

         17  security grounds.  We're not terrorists.  We're

         18  concerned community people who want to see things

         19  work the way they should in service to the

         20  community.

         21                 We had spoken to Ms. James about

         22  that, and we even heard that Darlene Mealy had

         23  worked for Transit, and these people are supposedly

         24  trying to gain us access to see how the tower should

         25  work more efficiently.
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          2                 There was a fire on PS parkways

          3  between Ocean and Rogers where PS 138 is located.

          4  There was an underground fire with gas leaks, I

          5  think, which had been fixed, but that road, and I

          6  heard Ms. James mention to the Commissioner about

          7  Park Place resurfacing.  Interestingly enough,

          8  there's a big hole in the street in front of my

          9  residence.  I'm the president of the block, and the

         10  people always say to me, how come you're here and

         11  you can't get this fixed  So I have to deal with

         12  that.

         13                 We did send a letter to DOT

         14  Commissioner.  In fact, I'm fighting with the former

         15  Brooklyn Commissioner, Laurie R. Detill (phonetic)

         16  for about five to seven years I've been trying to

         17  get speed humps placed around 138, PS 138, because

         18  there have been accidents.  I live right there, and

         19  I see the speeding.  I'm fearful that accidents are

         20  waiting to happen, and it may endanger lives of the

         21  school kids.  So I wonder if you could just lend the

         22  good offices you have and put this on your agenda.

         23  We would appreciate it.  Park 21 and Prospect

         24  between Rogers and Nostrand and one on Park Place

         25  between Rogers and Nostrand.
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          2                 The Morlet (phonetic) Eastern Parkway

          3  is also a transportation issue more.  We are

          4  concerned about dog litter and there is not

          5  sufficient enforcement, so if you could add this to

          6  your agenda, it would be even more to our liking.

          7                 The 77th Precinct has to get in on

          8  this.  The signs are not sufficiently adequate, and

          9  they are not really doing the job.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  DOT signs,

         11  Mr. Monderson?

         12                 DR. MONDERSON:  Yes, about that you

         13  shouldn't litter your dog there, or you face a fine

         14  or whatever.

         15                 Finally, I would like to talk about

         16  the use of dangerous herbicides on Eastern Parkway,

         17  which I think that the mow can be trimmed without

         18  using herbicides.  So those are basically some of

         19  the issues that I'd like to bring to your attention.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Thank you.

         21                 DR. MONDERSON:  And request your

         22  assistance.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Absolutely.

         24  Thank you, Dr. Monderson.  I wanted to just thank

         25  you for participating here, and I'm sure your
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          2  council member is more than on top of all those

          3  items.

          4                 DR. MONDERSON:  She was amazing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  She is.  So we

          6  will now hear from Kay Dunham.

          7                 MS. DUNHAM:  Good afternoon, Council

          8  Member Reyna and the distinguished Committee.  My

          9  name is Kay Dunham, and I represent as a resident of

         10  Community Board Nine since my mother purchased a

         11  house in 1958.  I have complaints, murmurs from my

         12  neighbors.  I've had a dream that the Carl Street

         13  Bridge, it's a Department of Transportation bridge,

         14  should be a full street bridge.  It's the only foot

         15  bridge to the Franklin Avenue shuttle near Transit

         16  Division 32.  I think it has an engineering problem,

         17  but FDA was our guest speaker at MTA a few weeks

         18  ago, and I think I can understand FTA funding, how

         19  they go about getting the funding, so what I hope to

         20  do is get the Carl Street Bridge widened and be a

         21  full street bridge like all of the Franklin Avenue

         22  shuttle DOT bridges.

         23                 I'd like to have the underground of

         24  the shuttle enclosed all the way down to Empire

         25  Boulevard.  Union Street at Franklin Avenue, Union
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          2  Street Franklin Avenue and the lights that are not

          3   -- the streets do not have traffic signals to

          4  Empire Boulevard, President Street has traffic

          5  signals.  We need traffic signals on Franklin

          6  Avenue.  It's been a complaint for as many years as

          7  I've lived in Crown Heights.

          8                 Red light cameras maybe on Bedford

          9  Avenue,  Speed bumps Rogers Avenue.  500 Block has

         10  complained that it's like a highway northbound on

         11  Rogers Avenue, and they also need speed bumps.  I

         12  also have a complaint.  The Chair of the PTA.  I

         13  think when she's talking, she's talking about maybe

         14  the nursery school to St. Mark's Church, and St.

         15  Mark's Day School, but St. Mark's Day School is on

         16  President Street and Brooklyn, and I think their

         17  signals are good.

         18                 I remember some little daycare

         19  centers on Union Street.  She had to come because

         20  there were so many accidents a few weeks.  The

         21  parents are dropping the children off at the

         22  nursery, and there were numerous accidents because

         23  there are no signals on Union Street, so from

         24  Franklin Avenue would be the issue, or maybe from

         25  Carson Avenue all the way up.  The survey would have
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          2  to go up to meet Union Street as far up as Kingston

          3  Avenue Brooklyn.  They'd have to do a Union Street

          4  survey.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Ms. Dunham.  I

          6  don't want to interrupt you, but I must.  Judging

          7  from Dr. Monderson's testimony, as well as your own,

          8  there are several constituency issues that would

          9  need to be certainly related and worked on with your

         10  local elected official.  You heard the testimony

         11  today from the Commissioner on budget related

         12  priorities where most of your constituent problems

         13  could be addressed with those budgetary priorities,

         14  as long as there is a coordination with your elected

         15  official at the City level to be able to communicate

         16  that back into the Department of Transportation's

         17  Commissioner's Office.

         18                 So if you can wrap up, but more so

         19  than that, make sure that the list you have in front

         20  of you, if you can write those in the form of a

         21  letter to your elected official and cc the

         22  Department of Transportation Commissioner, it would

         23  be very helpful to you, as well as Mr. Monderson,

         24  okay?

         25                 MS. DUNHAM:  Yes, this is small.  I
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          2  could almost handle it, but I want to know why I was

          3  given the job.  DOT is blocking up our catch basins,

          4  and it's creating problems at Franklin Avenue.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Have all these

          6  reports --

          7                 MS. DUNHAM:  I can do it through 311,

          8  but I used to be able to walk over to 40 Worth, and

          9  go into Foil and say, Foil, there's a catch basin

         10  here.  Have the black top removed, and why did they

         11  cover it over although it needs to be removed so

         12  that the water can go down although it's above the

         13  Franklin Avenue train station.  It's creating

         14  problems for us.  And there's one down at Sheepshead

         15  Bay.  I'm sure if I went to Foil, I don't know if I

         16  can go anymore since 311, but sure, there's another

         17  catch basin that's covered up at the Sheepshead Bay

         18  station near McDonald's.  I can do some of it, you

         19  know what I mean?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  No, and I

         21  appreciate it.

         22                 MS. DUNHAM:  I want to air it because

         23  we need to do it on every level, so I need to wrap

         24  it.  I need a survey on Franklin Avenue.  I'm in

         25  Nine.  I live Nine, and we need to get Franklin
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          2  Avenue traffic signals and Union Street, including

          3  Franklin Avenue, moving eastbound, to meet up with

          4  the complaint that came to Community Board Nine

          5  about all the accidents, speeding up Union Street

          6  and interfering with the parents dropping their

          7  children off, and far too many accidents.  No one

          8  said that the police had like a school crossing

          9  guard or anything at the corner to as a calming

         10  device.  So I think we've covered everything, Madam

         11  Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Thank you.

         13                 MS. DUNHAM:  And thank you for the

         14  opportunity to speak.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Absolutely.  Mr.

         16  X?

         17                 MR. X:  Regarding Grand Army Plaza,

         18  the statue should be placed directly in the middle,

         19  not on the side.  If it's placed directly in the

         20  middle, you can ease congestion because the streets

         21  are, how do I put it, uneven in that area. I've

         22  noticed that that the Flatbush Avenue at Olster

         23  Circle, both uneven because that statue doesn't lie

         24  directly in the middle, and up ahead, by the ground,

         25  it lies on the side, so it's hard to make turns.  I
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          2  hope Iris' successor looks to move that statue, not

          3  necessarily destroy it, but move it.  Since Iris is

          4  leaving, hopefully her successor will do a much

          5  better job serving the five boroughs since Iris

          6  decided to do her job 50 percent and also we need to

          7  pick up your paperwork at 506 Fort Washington Avenue

          8  at a later time pertaining to the MTA board

          9  meetings.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Okay.

         11                 MR. X:  Since you had a question

         12  added, what about those meetings over one year ago

         13  that had agreed to inform you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Thank you, Mr. X.

         15    Mr. Garber:

         16                 MR. GARBER:  Good afternoon,

         17  Councilwoman Reyna, staff of the City Council,

         18  members of the sergeant- at- arms and members of the

         19  public.  My name is Joseph G. Garber.  I'm a civic

         20  activist in the area of public transportation.

         21  Since this is not only a budget hearing, but also an

         22  oversight hearing on the preliminary Mayor's Mansion

         23  report that was issued on 2/14/07, unfortunately,

         24  this morning I'm across the hall, listening to the

         25  police misconduct hearing, but I made some notes,
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          2  and I'd like to surface some issues from those

          3  perspectives.

          4                 In the year 2006 I probably surfaced

          5  road up 400 complaints and observations in

          6  accommodations about bus service, mostly in the

          7  Borough of Brooklyn, but perhaps some through

          8  different parts of the City.  I sent it, hand

          9  delivered it, to the bus customer relations center,

         10  which is presently headed by one Christopher Lake,

         11  who reports to Jennifer Sinclaire, the Chief Bus

         12  Customer Relation -- chief of transportation officer

         13  at 25 Jamaica Avenue.  As of this date, I have yet

         14  to receive meaningful responses.  Twice I've had

         15  calls as a customer who's concerned to submit

         16  observations and complaints and not to be recognized

         17  is very bad.

         18                 Lately, bus operators have been

         19  engaged in extensive talking on cell phones, extreme

         20  fraternization with passengers, especially if it's a

         21  male/female and jumping yellow lights or red lights.

         22  The Williamsburg Bridge, as per page 15, as far as

         23  bridge repair in this presentation has a lot of

         24  graffiti.  The Washington Plaza Bus Terminal has to

         25  be a MOU set up between MTA New York City Transit
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          2  and DOT or Sanitation, who should clean the

          3  periphery, the highway that's going off on South

          4  Fourth Street, et cetera.  There is a lack of

          5  communication.

          6                 Graffiti on subway stations and

          7  subway cars have increased greatly.  My home station

          8  is Marcy Avenue.  I'm on the J1 side, which is the

          9  side that goes across the Williamsburg bridge. There

         10  doesn't pass by a week that new graffiti is

         11  happening.  When you call the 243- 3222 number, area

         12  code 718, 95 percent you get an answering machine.

         13  I don't get a live wire.  I call and I call and I

         14  call, I don't get response, even though Marcy Avenue

         15  is a 72 hour station for graffiti removal.  I go

         16  down to 2 Broadway, around the bend where the TA has

         17  a customer relations center with Mr. Mason and Mr.

         18  Pegram.  I fill out detailed reports and it's not

         19  going anywhere.

         20                 I wish that Chairperson Liu would

         21  look at this.  How the MTA/TA, the Department of

         22  Buses and MTA in general handles customer service

         23  complaints.  I think we need an extreme oversight to

         24  bring in Mr. Lombardo, Chris Lake, Jennifer

         25  SinClair, analyze this bunching throughout the whole

                                                            199

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  City is a very serious problem. Station agents are

          3  not wearing badges properly, and this was a study

          4  that the Riders Council, the MTA Riders Council did

          5  an in depth study to my liking.

          6                 On Robling (phonetic) Street and Lee

          7  Avenue there must be traffic agents on the

          8  intersection.  They're coming from Taylor Street and

          9  they're coming from Robeling into Lee.  The 90 is

         10  ignoring it with their traffic enforcement officer,

         11  the safety officer.  I've called the Parking

         12  enforcement District, and as yet -- I have yet to

         13  see intersection agents.  We've got a serious

         14  problem.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Mr. Garber.

         16                 MR. GARBER:  Yeah.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Considering that

         18  part of your testimony is constituent related

         19  issues, and I'm one of your Council Members and

         20  David Yasskey is the other, send us that last list

         21  that you have.

         22                 MR. GARBER:  Okay, fine.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  But if there are

         24  no Budget related issues, I'd like to make sure that

         25  your final comments are --
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          2                 MR. GARBER:  Yeah, I have two more

          3  comments and that's it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  You've got it.

          5                 MR. GARBER:  This is a very serious

          6  issue that's stealing money from the City.

          7  Unfortunately, DOT has given out DOT parking permits

          8  to people that are not physically disabled. I've

          9  seen them myself.  Who are not involved in any

         10  group, and they have these onsite clergy or onsite

         11  organization parking permits and they're not really

         12  entitled to them.  I think we need an investigation

         13  of the Unit on Long Island City that gives out the

         14  special permits.  There is a lot of abuse in the 90

         15  precinct in the Williamsburg area.

         16                 The final thing is with traffic

         17  regulation on Tenth Avenue the valet's from let's

         18  say a catering hall on 75 Wilson Street, excuse me,

         19  75 Ross Street are parking cars in a residential

         20  area.  Many of the residents complain to me.  They

         21  come home at night, there's no parking space because

         22  the valet's from a few catering halls are parking

         23  their cars from the guests in the streets.  I think

         24  we need a study.  We need maybe the Brooklyn DOT

         25  Commissioner to look into this because this is a
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          2  traffic flow issue also.  Thank you very much for

          3  listening.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:  Thank you very

          5  much.  This concludes the hearing on The Committee

          6  on Transportation.  Thank you very much.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 2:00 p.m.)
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